Identification of Chemical Correctors for the Trafficking Defect of Mutant SLC4A11

by

Anthony Michael Bok-Soun Chiu

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Department of Physiology University of Alberta

© Anthony Michael Bok-Soun Chiu, 2015

Abstract

Congenital Hereditary Endothelial Dystrophy, Harboyan Syndrome and Fuchs' Endothelial Corneal Dystrophy are three forms of heterogeneous, genetic corneal blindness. Mutations in the membrane protein SLC4A11 have been found to cause cases of these diseases. Most mutations in SLC4A11 cause the protein to misfold and become retained in the endoplasmic reticulum. The loss of function of SLC4A11 is thought to give rise to the symptoms of these diseases. Currently, the only permanent therapy for these diseases is corneal transplant. A pharmacological therapy is needed to better treat these diseases caused by SLC4A11. Screening techniques for the assessment of small molecule correctors is the first step toward a pharmacological therapy. A high throughput screening assay was developed to detect SLC4A11 at the plasma membrane. This technique could also be applied to other plasma membrane proteins. A small scale screen revealed that three non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs rescue the trafficking defect of some mutations of SLC4A11. Glafenine was effective in rescuing the trafficking defect in all three mutations screened. Functional analysis revealed that these mutants, when rescued to the plasma membrane, retained functional activity. These data suggest that glafenine may be a viable therapeutic for some cases of endothelial corneal dystrophies.

Acknowledgements

First I would like to thank Dr. Joe Casey for giving me the opportunity to be a graduate student in his lab. Joe is an excellent scientist and mentor. His patience and support have helped me become a better student and I will never forget the experiences I've had here. I also admire Joe's skills away from the lab and hope to emulate his well roundedness in my career.

I would next like to thank my committee members Dr. Emanuelle Cordat and Dr. Ordan Lehmann for their valuable guidance and suggestions. I would like to thank all the professors and students of the MPDRG for creating a research group that has fostered an environment of camaraderie and scientific strength. I would like to thank many past and present members of the Physiology and Biochemistry Departments for their help as valuable sources of information and as friends. In particular I would like to thank everyone from the Physiology Graduate Student Association for their effort and support in department events and student life.

I must deeply thank Dr. Sampath Loganathan for all his help in the lab and with life in Edmonton. Sam has taught me almost every technique I learned during my graduate studies and was always ready to discuss ideas about our projects. I can't imagine the lab without Sam. I would like to thank all the past and present members of the lab, Anita Quon, Dr. Gonzalo Vilas, Dr. Pamela Bonar, Dr. Arghya Basu, Darpan Malholtra, Katie Badior, Chris Lukowski, Nada Alshmaimeri, Dr. Alka Kumari and Sam Post for all their help and support. Special thanks to Jake Mandziuk who lay the foundations of my project and was a valuable summer student to both Sam and myself.

iii

I would like to thank all of the friends I have made in Edmonton and the continual support that they have given me. Life in Edmonton would not have been as enjoyable as it was without them.

I would like to acknowledge CIHR, WCHRI and the FGSR for their financial support.

Finally, I would like to thank my family. They continue to love and support me in all facets of my life and I would not be here today without them. I know that they will continue to support me into whatever life has in store for me next.

Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Chapter 1: General Introduction	1
1.1 Thesis Overview	
1.2 The Cornea and Corneal Dystrophies	2
1.2.1 Congenital Hereditary Endothelial Dystrophy Type 2	
1.2.2 Harboyan Syndrome	5
1.2.3 Fuchs' Endothelial Corneal Dystrophy	5
1.2.4 Treatment for Endothelial Dystrophies	6
1.3 SLC4 Family of Proteins	7
1.4 Membrane Protein Biosynthesis and Endoplasmic Reticulum Retent	ion 9
1.5 SLC4A11	
1.5.1 Structure and Function	
1.5.2 Expression	
1.5.3 Loss of SLC4A11 Function in Disease	
1.5.4 Oligomerization of SLC4A11	
1.6 Cystic Fibrosis as a Model for Rescue from the ER	
1.7 Thesis Objectives	
Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	33
2.1 Materials	
2.2 Methods	
2.2.1 DNA constructs	
2.2.2 Tissue culture	
2.2.3 Cell lysis	
2.2.4 Poly-L-Lysine coating of culture dishes and coverslips	
2.2.5 Amplex Red High Throughput Assay	
2.2.6 Immunoblotting	

2.2.7 Cell surface biotinylation assay	38
2.2.8 Osmotically-driven water flux assay	39
2.2.9 Statistical analysis	40
2.3 References	41
Chapter 3: Identification of Chemical Correctors for the Trafficking De	fect in
Mutant SLC4A11	42
3.1 Introduction	43
3.2 Results	47
3.2.1 Amplex red high throughput assay	47
3.2.2 Small-scale screen of folding corrector drugs	55
3.2.3 Dose-response to glafenine of G709E-SLC4A11 trafficking	61
3.2.4 Effect of glafenine on SLC4A11 cell surface trafficking	61
3.2.5 Glafenine restores mutant SLC4A11 transport function	64
3.3 Discussion	66
3.4 References	72
Chapter 4: Summary and Future Directions	84
4.1 Summary	85
4.2 Future Directions	86
4.3 References	88
References	

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Schematic representation of the human cornea3
Figure 1.2 Phylogenetic dendrogram of the SLC4 family of bicarbonate transporters
Figure 1.3 Topology model of SLC4A1111
Figure 1.4 Model of SLC4A11 and AQP1 in corneal endothelial cells13
Figure 3.1 SLC4A11 topology model and characterization of epitope-tagged SLC4A1149
Figure 3.2 Diagramatic representation of Amplex Red High throughput Assay (HTA)51
Figure 3.3 Comparison of cell surface SLC4A11 level as measured by high throughput assay
(HTA) and cell surface biotinylation53
Figure 3.4 A small-scale screen of potential SLC4A11 folding corrector compounds57
Figure 3.5 High-repetition screening of compounds identified in preliminary screen
Figure 3.6 Correction of G709E-SLC4A11 trafficking by glafenine62
Figure 3.7 Effect of glafenine on mutant SLC4A11 cell surface processing efficiency
Figure 3.8 Effect of glafenine on osmotically-driven water flux by ER-retained mutant
SLC4A11

List of Abbreviations

4-PBA; 4-phenylbutyric acid

AE; anion exchanger protein

AQP1; Aquaporin 1

ASA; acetylsalicylic acid

BCA; bicinchoninic acid

BiP; binding immunoglobulin protein

Carb; carbamazepine

cDNA; complementary deoxyribonucleic acid

CFTR; cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator

CHED; Congenital Hereditary Endothelial Dystrophy

COL8A2; collagen alpha-2(VIII) chain

COX; cyclooxygenase enzyme

DIDS; 4,4'-diisothiocyanatostilbene-2,2'-disulfonate

DMEM; Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Media

DMSO; dimethyl sulfoxide

DNA; deoxyribonucleic acid

EC₅₀; half maximal effective concentration

EDTA; ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

ER; endoplasmic reticulum

ERAD; endoplasmic reticulum associated degradation

FECD; Fuchs' Endothelial Corneal Dystrophy

GAPDH; glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase

GFP; green fluorescent protein

HA; hemagglutinin

HEK293; Human Embryonic Kidney 293 cells

HEPES; 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid

HRP; horseradish peroxidase

HS; Harboyan Syndrome

KM60; 7-Chloro-4-[4-[4-chlorophenyl)sulfonyl]-1-piperazinyl]quinolone

LOXHD1; lipoxygenase homology domain 1

MG-132; N-(benzyloxycarbonyl)leucinylleucinylleucinal

MIP; major intrinsic protein

NSAID; non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug

PCR; polymerase chain reaction

PPCD; posterior polymorphous corneal dystrophy

PSG; penicillin-streptomycin-glutamine

SAHA; N-hydroxy-N'-phenyl-octanediamide

SDS; sodium dodecyl sulfate

SDS-PAGE; sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

SEM; standard error of mean

SLC; solute carrier

SLC4A11; solute carrier family 4 member 11

T; total protein

TCF4; immunoglobulin transcription factor 2

TMAO; trimethylamine N-oxide

U; unbound protein

UGGT; (UDP)-glucose:glycoprotein glucosyltransferase

UPR; unfolded protein response

WT; wild type

Chapter 1: General Introduction

1.1 Thesis Overview

The objective of this thesis is to develop and validate a high throughput assay to screen potential correcting compounds for the trafficking defect in mutant SLC4A11. A novel high throughput assay to identify HA tagged SLC4A11 at the cell membrane was developed. A small screen of compounds shown to be effective in other membrane protein diseases was performed using this assay. A correcting molecule was identified and functional studies of corrected SLC4A11 mutants were also performed.

The exact function of SLC4A11 is still a matter of contention. SLC4A11 has been implicated in endothelial corneal dystrophies. This introduction discusses endothelial corneal dystrophies and current therapies for their treatment. The next section of this introduction discusses the function of SLC4A11 and its role in endothelial corneal dystrophies. The final section of this review includes a brief review of other diseases resultant of mistargeting of membrane proteins and chemical methods with which they have been rescued.

1.2 The Cornea and Corneal Dystrophies

The human cornea is an anterior structure of the eye covering the iris, pupil and anterior chamber. The cornea is responsible for focusing light onto the retina and is therefore important in visual acuity. The cornea is separated into five layers (Fig. 1.1). From anterior to posterior, these are the epithelial layer, Bowman's layer, corneal stroma, Descemet's membrane and endothelial monolayer. The endothelial monolayer is a single layer of polygonal cells (1). In general, human corneal endothelial cell density deceases with age.



Figure 1.1 Schematic representation of the human cornea (based on Pepose and Ubels, 1992). The anterior face of the cornea faces up. The human cornea consists of five layers. From anterior to posterior they are; the outer epithelium, Bowman's layer, stroma, Descemet's membrane and the endothelial monolayer. The stroma consists of a high concentration of collagen and proteoglycans, which produces an osmotic gradient between the aqueous humor and stroma. Endothelial cells are responsible for the movement of water back from the stroma to the aqueous humor. Newborn babies can have cell densities greater than 5500 cells/mm² whereas adults typically range from 2500 to 3000 cells/mm². The endothelial layer forms a leaky barrier between the aqueous humor and the corneal stroma (1), which allows the osmotic movement of water from the aqueous humor into an area of high solute concentration of the stroma (2, 3).

Corneal dystrophies refer to a large group of bilateral, genetic and non-inflammatory diseases that affect the cornea. Corneal dystrophies can be divided into three main groups based on the layers of the cornea they primarily affect. These are dystrophies of the epithelial and Bowman's layers (anterior), dystrophies of the corneal stroma (stromal) and dystrophies of the Descemet's and endothelial layers (posterior). Most corneal dystrophies result in corneal opacities, which affect visual acuity and in some dystrophies can eventually lead to blindness (2). This thesis will deal with three posterior corneal dystrophies of the endothelial layer; Congenital Hereditary Endothelial Dystrophy Type 2 (CHED2), Harboyan Syndrome (HS) and Fuchs' Endothelial Dystrophy (FECD). These diseases share similar symptoms in which those suffering from these diseases develop corneal edema of the stroma and eventually cloudiness of the cornea resulting in vision loss.

1.2.1 Congenital Hereditary Endothelial Dystrophy Type 2

Congenital hereditary Endothelial Dystrophy (CHED; MIM 217700) (4) is characterized by a ground glass, blue-white opaque appearance of both corneas and markedly thickened corneas from birth or infancy (2). There are two types of CHED classified as type 1 (CHED1) and type 2 (CHED2). CHED1 manifests in the first two years of life, but notably does not present with nystagmus. Nystagmus is a condition represented by involuntary movement of the eyes

(5). CHED1 is inherited in an autosomal dominant manner (6). CHED2 individuals are born with ground glass corneas and present with nystagmus (2). CHED2 is inherited in an autosomal recessive manner. In both types, the corneal stroma is swollen due to extensive stromal edema with some enlargement of the collagen fibrils in the stroma. This results in a scattering of light and the characteristic ground glass appearance (2). The clinical classification of CHED1 has been recently changed based on evidence that mutations causing this disease are similar to those of another endothelial dystrophy, posterior polymorphous corneal dystrophy (PPCD) (7). As such, CHED1 has been eliminated as a distinct clinical classification and CHED2 can now be referred to as simply, CHED (7).

1.2.2 Harboyan Syndrome

Harboyan Syndrome (HS; MIM 217400) (8) is a disease affecting both the eyes and ears. Patients present with the same symptoms as CHED2, accompanied with progressive hearing loss (6). Typically, the first symptoms of hearing loss are reported in teenage years. HS is inherited in an autosomal recessive manner (6). The physiological cause of hearing loss in HS is unknown. A current theory is that the absence of SLC4A11 disrupts the transport of potassium to the stria vascularis leading to decreased potassium secretion by intermediate cells (9). Intermediate cells are essential for establishing the endocochlear potential and without the proper potential, hair cells in the cochlea are unable to amplify auditory signals (9).

1.2.3 Fuchs' Endothelial Corneal Dystrophy

Fuchs' Endothelial Corneal Dystrophy (FECD; MIM 136800) (10) shares the same "ground glass" appearance of the cornea with CHED, but is distinctive in that the disease is

asymptomatic in early life (2). Symptoms do not start to appear until the fourth or fifth decades of life. One of the defining characteristics of FECD is a thickened Descemet's membrane accompanied with posterior excrescences (guttae) (2, 11) along with corneal edema (12). These guttae are more confluent and centrally located than those expected from normal aging (2, 12). FECD is also characterized by a marked decrease in endothelial cell density, greater than expected from normal aging (2, 11). Degeneration of the other layers of the cornea is common in FECD, but these are seen as secondary to the degeneration of the endothelial layer (13). FECD is inherited in an autosomal dominant manner and has a 4% occurrence in North Americans (2). The rate of occurrence has been reported to be as high as 9% in certain populations around the world (11). Interestingly, females are affected by FECD at a higher rate compared to males (14, 15). FECD has also been associated with hearing disability (16), higher incidence of age related macular degeneration (17), structural changes of the cornea (kerataconus) (18, 19) and cardiovascular disease (20).

1.2.4 Treatment for Endothelial Dystrophies

Vision loss severely affects the quality of life of those who suffer from these diseases. Currently, the only lasting treatment is corneal transplant. Currently, FECD accounts for 10-25% of all corneal transplants in North America (2). Tissue availability and compatibility are major problems associated with treatment method. Other treatments revolve around removing excess water from the corneal stroma. These include hypersaline eye drops and using a hair dryer to dry out the surface of the cornea. These are only temporary solutions that address the symptoms of the disease and not the root cause. Development of a chemical therapy for these diseases could be important for not only those who suffer from endothelial dystrophies but could also free up valuable corneal tissues for transplant in other diseases.

1.3 SLC4 Family of Proteins

The SLC4 family of the solute carrier (SLC) group of proteins (Fig. 1.2) includes ten unique human genes (SLC4A1-5 and SLC4A7-11) which encode integral membrane proteins (21). Of these, eight genes encode proteins that fall into two major functional groups. The first group is the chloride bicarbonate (Cl⁻/HCO₃⁻) exchangers including SLC4A1-3. These proteins are also known as anion exchanger proteins (AE). The second group is the sodium coupled bicarbonate (Na⁺/HCO₃⁻) transporters, also known as NBCs, including SLC4A4, 5, 7, 8 and 10. This group is further divided into electrogenic (SLC4A4-5) and electroneutral (SLC4A7-8 and 10). SLC4A8 is unique in that while it is Na⁺-driven, it is a Cl⁻/HCO₃⁻ exchanger (22). SLC4A9 has been reported to have Cl⁻/HCO₃⁻ exchange activity (23-25). In the kidney, SLC4A9 has demonstrated Na⁺-coupled HCO₃⁻ exchange activity (26). Phylogenetically, SLC4A9 clusters with the Na⁺coupled bicarbonate transporters (27). The CO₂/HCO₃⁻ equilibrium is an important buffering system in the human body and so SLC4 family members are implicated in a number of diseases. The function of the remaining protein, SLC4A11, has not been conclusively established (21).

The SLC4 family shares a high degree of sequence similarity although SLC4A11 only shares approximately 14-20% identity with the other members (21). All members of the SLC4 family are characterized by a long N-terminal hydrophilic domain and a short C-terminal hydrophilic domain, both of which are intracellular (21). Several members of the SLC4 family are inhibited by disulfonic stilbene derivatives (DIDS) (28). SLC4 family members are widely spread



Figure 1.2 Phylogenetic dendrogram of the SLC4 family of bicarbonate transporters. The SLC4 family contains two main groups; electroneutral Na⁺ independent HCO₃⁻ exchangers (red), and Na⁺ coupled HCO₃⁻ transporters (blue). SLC4A11 is represented outside of these groups as its function has not been conclusively established. This dendrogram was created using Clustal W2 software (http://www.ebi.ac.uk/Tools/msa/clustalw2/).

throughout a variety of human tissues. They are also implicated in a wide variety of dysfunctions and diseases which includes cataracts (29), autism (30), epilepsy (31), heart failure (32), kidney failure (27) and even breast cancer (33). As such, therapeutics targeting SLC4 family proteins have received a lot of attention (34-38).

1.4 Membrane Protein Biosynthesis and Endoplasmic Reticulum Retention

Membrane proteins are synthesized and folded at the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Folding can also be aided by chaperones in the ER (39). The folded protein is then subsequently transported to the Golgi apparatus and eventually its final destination to perform its function. When a protein is misfolded it is recognized by (UDP)-glucose:glycoprotein glucosyl transferase (UGGT) or immunoglobulin binding protein (BiP) (39, 40). In the case of UGGT, the Nglycosylated protein is given more time to fold by entering the calnexin/calreticulin cycle (40). If the protein does not fold properly after several cycles in the calnexin/calreticulin cycle, it is marked for degradation and sent to the proteasome in a process known as endoplasmic reticulum associated degradation (ERAD). In the case of mutant proteins, where presumably all of the mutant protein synthesized is misfolded, the calnexin/calreticulin and ERAD mechanisms can be overwhelmed with misfolded proteins, which can lead to unfolded protein response (UPR) (40). UPR increases expression of folding chaperones and decreases protein translation (40). If these measures are insufficient to restore the ER to a normal state, the cell can eventually undergo apoptosis (40). Apoptosis involves the activation of caspases 3, 6 and 7, which form proteases that cleave various proteins, leading to cell death (41).

1.5 SLC4A11

1.5.1 Structure and Function

SLC4A11 is an integral membrane protein comprised of 891 amino acids. It has 14 transmembrane domains, a long N-terminal hydrophilic domain and a short C-terminal hydrophilic domain common to SLC4 family members (42) (Fig. 1.3) Limited proteolysis analysis support this proposed topology model (42). Studies on the expression of SLC4A11 show that on immunoblots, two bands are detected at approximately 110 kDa and 90 kDa (42, 43). The upper band is likely a complex glycosylated form of the protein whereas the lower band is likely core glycosylated. The complex glycosylated form is present at the plasma membrane and the core glycosylated form is ER associated (44, 45). SLC4A11 localizes on the basolateral surface of the endothelial cells of the human cornea (46).

SLC4A11 was originally cloned on the basis of homology to the SLC4 family and was given the name BTR1 (bicarbonate transporter 1) (47). The function of SLC4A11 is a matter of contention. SLC4A11 is a member of the SLC4 family of bicarbonate transporters but does not demonstrate bicarbonate transport ability (48). Plant SLC4A11 orthologs are known borate transporters (47). Human SLC4A11 was originally reported to be a Na⁺ coupled borate transporter but in the absence of borate transported Na⁺ and OH⁻ and was subsequently renamed NaBC1 (48). However, other groups have not been able to replicate this finding and instead SLC4A11 is reported to function as a Na⁺/OH⁻ cotransporter as well as a NH₄⁺ permeation pathway (49, 50). Another group also identified SLC4A11 as an electrogenic H⁺(OH⁻)



Figure 1.3 Topology model of SLC4A11. This model was originally published in (42). Residues implicated in FECD, CHED and HS are labelled in blue, red and orange respectively. Currently, there are 57 point mutations associated with these three diseases. Residues in black denote N-linked glycosylation sites. Boxes denote transmembrane domains. Mutations: (6, 44, 45, 51-65).

permeation pathway (66). Work in our lab has shown that SLC4A11 when expressed in *Xenopus laevis* oocytes and HEK293 cells facilitates water movement (46, 67). Whether this movement of water is resultant of movement of ions or by directly transporting water remains unclear. If SLC4A11 is directly moving water, this would make it the first non-major intrinsic protein water transporter to be identified (46). Aquaporin 1 (AQP1) was found to be localized to the apical surface of endothelial cells (46). SLC4A11 is proposed to work in conjunction with AQP1 to move water from the stroma to the aqueous humor (Fig. 1.4) (46).

1.5.2 Expression

According to the UniGene expression profile from the National Centre for Biotechnology Information, SLC4A11 is expressed in a variety of tissues, including testes, uterus, trachea, skin, brain, lung, mouth, eye, ovary, blood, kidney, embryonic tissue, intestine, prostate and pancreas. In the kidney, SLC4A11 is expressed in the thin descending loop of Henle (9). Analysis of kidney function of knock out *slc4a11* mice showed that their urine had a reduced osmolarity and a larger volume, suggesting that SLC4A11 in the kidney is important for water reabsorption (9).

Currently, three spliceforms of SLC4A11 have been identified. These three forms differ only in the N-terminal sequence encoded by the first exon. The last 861 amino acids in each



Figure 1.4 Model of SLC4A11 and AQP1 in corneal endothelial cells. SLC4A11 is localized to the basolateral surface whereas AQP1 is localized to the apical surface. SLC4A11 and AQP1 work cooperatively to move water across the endothelial cells into the aqueous humor. T.J. denotes tight junctions between cells.

spliceform are identical. The second spliceform has been the focus of the majority of studies involving SLC4A11 (66). Recently, RT-PCR analysis revealed that the spliceform 3 was the dominant spliceform in human corneal endothelial cells (66). However, whether this translates to protein expression in endothelial cells is yet to be determined. Unpublished data from our lab indicates the presence of both spliceform 2 and 3 in whole cornea samples. Additionally, bioinformatic analysis revealed that the expected methionine for the translation of SLC4A11 is poorly conserved among close relatives of *Homo sapiens*. Another methionine, 35 amino acids downstream, is much more highly conserved among other mammals. Our data indicate the presence of the shortened SLC4A11 in human corneal lysates and the absence of the long protein. The second, more highly conserved methionine is common to all three spliceforms of SLC4A11. If SLC4A11 is only expressed as the shortened protein, the expression of any particular spliceform at the RNA level may not affect SLC4A11 expressed at the protein level.

1.5.3 Loss of SLC4A11 Function in Disease

The corneal stroma is primarily an extracellular matrix comprised of lamellar arrangement of collagen fibrils (1). Individual collagen fibrils are separated by a matrix of proteoglycans (1). This high concentration of proteins gives rise to an osmotic gradient between the aqueous humor and stroma. In normal function, water moves osmotically from the aqueous humor, through the leaky barriers of the endothelial cell layer into the stroma (Fig. 1.1). SCL4A11 is involved in the movement of water from the stroma back to the aqueous humor (46). When SLC4A11 is mutated, it is retained in the ER. Mutations of SLC4A11 cause cases of CHED, HS and FECD (44, 45, 52-54, 60, 61, 65). These diseases have also been linked to mutations of *COL8A2* (68), *LOXHD1* (69), *ZEB1* (11) and the transcriptional repressor TCF4 (70, 71).

The loss of functional SLC4A11 at the basolateral surface of the corneal endothelial cells disrupts the movement of water from the stroma causing edema in the stroma and a loss of corneal transparency (1). The depletion of SLC4A11 has been implicated in degeneration and apoptosis of corneal endothelial cells (72). Prior work in our lab has shown that mutant SLC4A11 does not induce apoptosis in HEK293 cells on its own (67). Instead, a recent study showed that HEK293 cells transfected with mutant SLC4A11 had decreased expression of antioxidant proteins rendering the cells more susceptible to oxidative stress (73).

Disease causing mutations of SLC4A11 display two molecular phenotypes: catalytically inactive and ER-retained (46). In both cases, SLC4A11 is unable to perform its role in water movement across the basolateral surface of the endothelial layer, resulting in development of symptoms of CHED, HS and FECD. Currently, there are 57 identified disease causing point mutations (45). Some ER-retained mutants of SLC4A11 could be rescued to the cell surface in HEK293 cells cultured at 30°C (43). Moreover, the rescued protein displayed functional activity upon rescue (67).

1.5.4 Oligomerization of SLC4A11

CHED, HS and FECD are caused by mutations in SLC4A11 leading to retention in the ER or catalytic inactivity, yet these diseases differ in their age of onset. CHED and HS are inherited in an autosomal recessive pattern and affected individuals experience onset of symptoms in the first decade of life (2, 60). Conversely, individuals who are heterozygous for a single CHED mutation do not experience onset of symptoms. SLC4 family members express as dimers and SLC4A11 has been shown to express as dimers as well (43). The same study showed that CHED mutant monomers are capable of forming dimers with WT monomers, resulting in a dimer that traffics to the plasma membrane to a level of approximately 50% that of WT/WT dimers (43). Individuals suffering from FECD do not experience symptoms until the fourth decade of life (2). FECD monomers dimerized with WT monomers traffic to the plasma membrane at a rate of approximately 25% that of WT/WT dimers (43). FECD is inherited dominantly (6, 45) and the low rate of processing to the plasma membrane may explain late onset of symptoms in FECD.

Further study of the functional ability of heterozygous dimers found that CHED/WT dimers displayed approximately 60% of the functional ability of WT/WT dimers (67). This is in support of the fact that mutations of CHED are recessive (44, 53, 54) and that individuals who are carriers of these disease alleles do not experience symptoms. This also suggests that 60% of the functional ability of WT/WT dimers is needed to prevent onset of symptoms of these corneal dystrophies (67). FECD/WT dimers displayed approximately 25% of the functional ability of WT/WT dimers suggesting that only 25% of functional activity of WT/WT is needed to delay onset of the symptoms of corneal dystrophies (67). The results of these studies indicate that a treatment strategy aimed at rescuing mutant SLC4A11 from the ER would only need to achieve 25% of the functional ability of WT/WT dimers to delay the onset of disease symptoms and 60% to prevent the symptoms.

1.6 Cystic Fibrosis as a Model for Rescue from the ER

The link between SLC4A11 and endothelial corneal dystrophies has only recently been identified. One way to identify chemical therapies for these diseases is to look to other, more studied diseases for inspiration. A number of diseases are caused by ER retention of membrane proteins. Considerable research has focused on other diseases caused by misfolding mutations of membrane proteins. Perhaps the best studied of these diseases is cystic fibrosis (CF). CF is caused by mutations in the CF transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR). CFTR is an ATP regulated anion channel located on the apical membrane of secretory epithelia of the airway, pancreas and intestines. Disease causing CFTR mutations result in viscous secretions that would otherwise be fluid (74). A result of this is chronic bacterial infections in the airway that can lead to death (75). There are currently >1900 known mutations possible to the CFTR gene (available at http://www.genet.sickkids.on.ca/cftr/app). The most common of these is a deletion of phenylalanine at amino acid 508 (F508del), which impairs the folding and trafficking of CFTR protein resulting in ER retention (76, 77). Several studies have screened potential correcting molecules for F508del in cellular models (78-80). Some small molecule correctors have been successful in rescuing F508del CFTR to the plasma membrane and are now used clinically (81, 82). Some of these molecules, such as VRT-325 and Corr-4a, have been created that are thought to directly interact with the CFTR protein (83).

There have also been screens of other readily available molecules (i.e. 4-phenylbutyrate, glafenine, ouabain, carbamazepine, curcumin, MG-132, etc.) that have yielded positive results with F508del CFTR (84-87). Some of these molecules have been traditionally used in other

capacities in human health and so are more likely to be approved relatively easily for human testing. The mechanisms of many of these molecules to restore CFTR to the cell membrane remain unknown. These seemingly unrelated compounds may have effects elsewhere in the cell that could not only restore misfolded proteins for CF but other diseases as well.

In addition to correcting the trafficking defect of CFTR, a subset of molecules has also shown efficacy to correct the trafficking of other ER-retained membrane proteins that are seemingly unrelated to CFTR. The sildenafil analog, KM11060, rescues the trafficking of F508del CFTR (88). In addition, KM11060 also rescues the trafficking defect in select mutants of the cardiac ion channel, hERG, the sulfonylurea receptor SUR1 and the vasopressin receptor V2R (87). Compounds that show the ability to rescue multiple mutant ER-retained membrane proteins represent very promising candidates as therapeutics for diseases caused by ERretained membrane proteins.

1.7 Thesis Objectives

The objective of this thesis was to develop a high throughput screening assay for the detection of the level of SLC4A11 at the plasma membrane. SLC4A11 has only recently come into significant study but since its mutations cause endothelial corneal dystrophies, a large body of work has been produced in a short time. This thesis will draw on the literature to selectively screen certain mutants for rescue. Additionally, a small screen of molecules revealed a potential corrector for the trafficking defect of mutant SLC4A11.

Experimental materials and methods are detailed in Chapter 2. Chapter 3 discusses the development of a high throughput assay and the identification of a potential correcting

molecule for mutant SLC4A11. Chapter 4 summarizes the key findings of this thesis and provides future directions for moving toward a clinical treatment of these corneal endothelial dystrophies.

1.8 References

- 1 Kaufman, P. and Alm, A. (2003) *Adlers' Physiology of the Eye*. Mosby, St. Louis, Missouri.
- 2 Klintworth, G.K. (2009) Corneal dystrophies. *Orphanet J Rare Dis*, **4**, 7.
- 3 Schmedt, T., Silva, M.M., Ziaei, A. and Jurkunas, U. (2012) Molecular bases of corneal endothelial dystrophies. *Experimental Eye Research*, **95**, 24-34.
- 4 Pearce, W.G., Tripathi, R.C. and Morgan, G. (1969) Congenital endothelial corneal dystrophy. Clinical, pathological, and genetic study. *Br. J. Ophthalmol*, **53**, 577-591.
- 5 Thurtell, M.J. (2014) Diagnostic approach to abnormal spontaneous eye movements. *Continuum: Lifelong Learning in Neurology*, **20**, 993-1007.
- 6 Desir, J. and Abramowicz, M. (2008) Congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy with progressive sensorineural deafness (Harboyan syndrome). *Orphanet J Rare Dis*, **3**, 28.
- Weiss, J.S., Møller, H.U., Aldave, A.J., Seitz, B., Bredrup, C., Kivelä, T., Munier, F.L.,
 Rapuano, C.J., Nischal, K.K., Kim, E.K., Sutphin, J., Busin, M., Labbé, A., Kenyon, K.R.,
 Kinoshita, S. and Lisch, W. (2015) IC3D classification of corneal dystrophies--edition 2.
 Cornea, **34**, 117-159.
- 8 Harboyan, G., Mamo, J., Kaloustian, V.d. and Karam, F. (1971) Congenital corneal
 dystrophy. Progressive sensorineural deafness in a family. *Arch Ophthalmol*, **85**, 27-32.
- Groeger, N., Froehlich, H., Maier, H., Olbrich, A., Kostin, S., Braun, T. and Boettger, T.
 (2010) Slc4a11 prevents osmotic imbalance leading to corneal endothelial dystrophy,
 deafness, and polyuria. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **285**, 14467-14474.
- 10 Fuchs, E. (1910) Dystrophia epithelialis corneae. *AlbrechtVan Graefes Arch. Klin. Exp. Ophthalmol*, **76**, 478-508.

- 11 Iliff, B.W., Riazuddin, S.A. and Gottsch, J.D. (2012) The genetics of Fuchs' corneal dystrophy. *Expert Rev Ophthalmol*, **7**, 363-375.
- 12 Elhalis, H., Azizi, B. and Jurkunas, U.V. (2010) Fuchs Endothelial Corneal Dystrophy. *The ocular surface*, **8**, 173-184.
- 13 Waring, G.O., 3rd, Rodrigues, M.M. and Laibson, P.R. (1978) Corneal dystrophies. II. Endothelial dystrophies. *Survey of ophthalmology*, **23**, 147-168.
- Louttit, M.D., Kopplin, L.J., Igo, R.P., Fondran, J.R., Tagliaferri, A., Bardenstein, D.,
 Aldave, A.J., Croasdale, C.R., Price, M., Rosenwasser, G.O., Lass, J.H., Iyengar, S.K. and
 Group, F.G.M.-C.S. (2012) A Multi-Center Study to Map Genes for Fuchs' Endothelial
 Corneal Dystrophy: Baseline Characteristics and Heritability. *Cornea*, **31**, 26-35.
- 15 Krachmer, J.H., Purcell, J.J., Jr, Young, C.W. and Bucher, K.D. (1978) Corneal endothelial dystrophy: A study of 64 families. *Archives of Ophthalmology*, **96**, 2036-2039.
- Stehouwer, M., Bijlsma, W.R. and Van der Lelij, A. (2011) Hearing disability in patients with Fuchs' endothelial corneal dystrophy: unrecognized co-pathology? *Clin. Ophthalmol.*, **5**, 1297-1301.
- 17 Rao, G.P., Kaye, S.B. and Agius-Fernandez, A. (1998) Central corneal endothelial guttae and age-related macular degeneration: is there an association? *Indian journal of ophthalmology*, **46**, 145-147.
- 18 Lipman, R.M., Rubenstein, J.B. and Torczynski, E. (1990) Keratoconus and Fuchs' corneal endothelial dystrophy in a patient and her family. *Arch Ophthalmol*, **108**, 993-994.

- Jurkunas, U. and Azar, D.T. (2006) Potential complications of ocular surgery in patients
 with coexistent keratoconus and Fuchs' endothelial dystrophy. *Ophthalmology*, **113**, 2187-2197.
- 20 Olsen, T. (1984) Is there an association between Fuchs' endothelial dystrophy and cardiovascular disease? *Graefe's archive for clinical and experimental ophthalmology = Albrecht von Graefes Archiv fur klinische und experimentelle Ophthalmologie*, **221**, 239-240.
- 21 Romero, M.F., Chen, A.-P., Parker, M.D. and Boron, W.F. (2013) The SLC4 family of bicarbonate transporters. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, **34**, 159-182.
- Amlal, H., Burnham, C.E. and Soleimani, M. (1999) Characterization of Na⁺/HCO₃⁻
 cotransporter isoform NBC-3. *Am J Physiol*, **276**, F903-913.
- Tsuganezawa, H., Kobayashi, K., Iyori, M., Araki, T., Koizumi, A., Watanabe, S.I., Kaneko,
 A., Fukao, T., Monkawa, T., Yoshida, T., Kim, D.K., Kanai, Y., Endou, H., Hayashi, M. and
 Saruta, T. (2001) A new member of the HCO₃⁻ transporter superfamily is an apical anion
 exchanger of beta-intercalated cells in the kidney. *J Biol Chem*, **276**, 8180-8189.
- Ko, S.B., Luo, X., Hager, H., Rojek, A., Choi, J.Y., Licht, C., Suzuki, M., Muallem, S., Nielsen,
 S. and Ishibashi, K. (2002) AE4 is a DIDS-sensitive Cl⁻/HCO₃- exchanger in the basolateral membrane of the renal CCD and the SMG duct. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 283, C1206-1218.
- 25 Parker, M.D., Boron, W.F. and Tanner, M.J. (2002) Characterization of human "AE4" as an electroneutral sodium bicarbonate cotransporter. *FASEB J*, **16**, A796.

- Chambrey, R., Kurth, I., Peti-Peterdi, J., Houillier, P., Purkerson, J.M., Leviel, F.,
 Hentschke, M., Zdebik, A.A., Schwartz, G.J., Hubner, C.A. and Eladari, D. (2013) Renal
 intercalated cells are rather energized by a proton than a sodium pump. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **110**, 7928-7933.
- Alka, K. and Casey, J.R. (2014) Bicarbonate transport in health and disease. *IUBMB Life*,
 66, 596-615.
- Alper, S.L. (2006) Molecular physiology of SLC4 anion exchangers. *Exp Physiol*, **91**, 153 161.
- Igarashi, T., Inatomi, J., Sekine, T., Cha, S.H., Kanai, Y., Kunimi, M., Tsukamoto, K., Satoh,
 H., Shimadzu, M., Tozawa, F., Mori, T., Shiobara, M., Seki, G. and Endou, H. (1999)
 Mutations in SLC4A4 cause permanent isolated proximal renal tubular acidosis with
 ocular abnormalities. *Nat. Genet.*, 23, 264-266.
- Sebat, J., Lakshmi, B., Malhotra, D., Troge, J., Lese-Martin, C., Walsh, T., Yamrom, B.,
 Yoon, S., Krasnitz, A., Kendall, J., Leotta, A., Pai, D., Zhang, R., Lee, Y.-H., Hicks, J.,
 Spence, S.J., Lee, A.T., Puura, K., Lehtimäki, T., Ledbetter, D., Gregersen, P.K., Bregman,
 J., Sutcliffe, J.S., Jobanputra, V., Chung, W., Warburton, D., King, M.-C., Skuse, D.,
 Geschwind, D.H., Gilliam, T.C., Ye, K. and Wigler, M. (2007) Strong Association of De
 Novo Copy Number Mutations with Autism. *Science*, **316**, 445-449.
- Sander, T., Toliat, M.R., Heils, A., Leschik, G., Becker, C., Ruschendorf, F., Rohde, K.,
 Mundlos, S. and Nurnberg, P. (2002) Association of the 867Asp variant of the human
 anion exchanger 3 gene with common subtypes of idiopathic generalized epilepsy.
 Epilepsy Res, **51**, 249-255.

- Khandoudi, N., Albadine, J., Robert, P., Krief, S., Berrebi-Bertrand, I., Martin, X.,
 Bevensee, M.O., Boron, W.F. and Bril, A. (2001) Inhibition of the cardiac electrogenic
 sodium bicarbonate cotransporter reduces ischemic injury. *Cardiovasc Res*, 52, 387-396.
- Chen, Y., Choong, L.-Y., Lin, Q., Philp, R., Wong, C.-H., Ang, B.-K., Tan, Y.-L., Loh, M.-C.-S.,
 Hew, C.-L., Shah, N., Druker, B.J., Chong, P.-K. and Lim, Y.-P. (2007) Differential
 Expression of Novel Tyrosine Kinase Substrates during Breast Cancer Development.
 Molecular & Cellular Proteomics, 6, 2072-2087.
- Kurtz, I. (2014) NBCe1 as a model carrier for understanding the structure-function
 properties of Na(+) -coupled SLC4 transporters in health and disease. *Pflugers Arch*, 466, 1501-1516.
- Jacobs, S., Ruusuvuori, E., Sipila, S.T., Haapanen, A., Damkier, H.H., Kurth, I., Hentschke,
 M., Schweizer, M., Rudhard, Y., Laatikainen, L.M., Tyynela, J., Praetorius, J., Voipio, J.
 and Hubner, C.A. (2008) Mice with targeted Slc4a10 gene disruption have small brain
 ventricles and show reduced neuronal excitability. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **105**, 311 316.
- Kotka, M., Lieden, A., Pettersson, S., Trinchieri, V., Masci, A. and D'Amato, M. (2008)
 Solute carriers (SLC) in inflammatory bowel disease: a potential target of probiotics? *J Clin Gastroenterol*, **42 Suppl 3 Pt 1**, S133-135.
- Pushkin, A. and Kurtz, I. (2006) SLC4 base (HCO₃⁻, CO₃²⁻) transporters: classification,
 function, structure, genetic diseases, and knockout models. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol*,
 290, F580-599.

- 38 Gorbatenko, A., Olesen, C.W., Boedtkjer, E. and Pedersen, S.F. (2014) Regulation and roles of bicarbonate transporters in cancer. *Front Physiol*, **5**, 130.
- 39 Gregersen, N., Bross, P., Vang, S. and Christensen, J.H. (2006) Protein misfolding and human disease. *Annual review of genomics and human genetics*, **7**, 103-124.
- 40 Schroder, M. and Kaufman, R.J. (2005) The mammalian unfolded protein response. *Annu Rev Biochem*, **74**, 739-789.
- 41 McIlwain, D.R., Berger, T. and Mak, T.W. (2013) Caspase functions in cell death and disease. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*, **5**, a008656.
- Vilas, G.L., Morgan, P.E., Loganathan, S., Quon, A. and Casey, J.R. (2011) Biochemical
 Framework for SLC4A11, the Plasma Membrane Protein Defective in Corneal
 Dystrophies. *Biochemistry*, 50, 2157-2169.
- Vilas, G.L., Loganathan, S., Quon, A., Sundaresan, P., Vithana, E.N. and Casey, J.R. (2012)
 Oligomerization of SLC4A11 protein and the severity of FECD and CHED2 corneal
 dystrophies caused by SLC4A11 mutations. *Human Mutation*, **33**, 419-428.
- Vithana, E.N., Morgan, P., Sundaresan, P., Ebenezer, N.D., Tan, D.T., Mohamed, M.D.,
 Anand, S., Khine, K.O., Venkataraman, D., Yong, V.H., Salto-Tellez, M., Venkatraman, A.,
 Guo, K., Hemadevi, B., Srinivasan, M., Prajna, V., Khine, M., Casey, J.R., Inglehearn, C.F.
 and Aung, T. (2006) Mutations in sodium-borate cotransporter SLC4A11 cause recessive
 congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy (CHED2). *Nature Genetics*, **38**, 755-757.
- 45 Vithana, E.N., Morgan, P.E., Ramprasad, V., Tan, D.T., Yong, V.H., Venkataraman, D., Venkatraman, A., Yam, G.H., Nagasamy, S., Law, R.W., Rajagopal, R., Pang, C.P.,

Kumaramanickevel, G., Casey, J.R. and Aung, T. (2008) SLC4A11 Mutations in Fuchs Endothelial Corneal Dystrophy (FECD). *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, **17**, 656-666.

- Vilas, G.L., Loganathan, S.K., Liu, J., Riau, A.K., Young, J.D., Mehta, J.S., Vithana, E.N. and
 Casey, J.R. (2013) Transmembrane water-flux through SLC4A11: a route defective in
 genetic corneal diseases. *Hum Mol Genet*, 22, 4579-4590.
- Parker, M.D., Ourmozdi, E.P. and Tanner, M.J. (2001) Human BTR1, a New Bicarbonate
 Transporter Superfamily Member and Human AE4 from Kidney. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 282, 1103-1109.
- 48 Park, M., Li, Q., Shcheynikov, N., Zeng, W. and Muallem, S. (2004) NaBC1 is a ubiquitous electrogenic Na⁺ -coupled borate transporter essential for cellular boron homeostasis and cell growth and proliferation. *Mol. Cell*, **16**, 331-341.
- Jalimarada, S.S., Ogando, D.G., Vithana, E.N. and Bonanno, J.A. (2013) Ion Transport
 Function of SLC4A11 in Corneal Endothelium. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 54, 4330-4340.
- Ogando, D.G., Jalimarada, S.S., Zhang, W., Vithana, E.N. and Bonanno, J.A. (2013)
 SLC4A11 is an EIPA-sensitive Na⁺ permeable pHi regulator. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 305, C716-727.
- Puangsricharern, V., Yeetong, P., Charumalai, C., Suphapeetiporn, K. and Shotelersuk, V.
 (2014) Two novel mutations including a large deletion of the SLC4A11 gene causing
 autosomal recessive hereditary endothelial dystrophy. *Br J Ophthalmol*, **98**, 1460-1462.
- 52 Hemadevi, B., Veitia, R.A., Srinivasan, M., Arunkumar, J., Prajna, N.V., Lesaffre, C. and Sundaresan, P. (2008) Identification of mutations in the SLC4A11 gene in patients with recessive congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy. *Arch Ophthalmol*, **126**, 700-708.
- Jiao, X., Sultana, A., Garg, P., Ramamurthy, B., Vemuganti, G.K., Gangopadhyay, N.,
 Hejtmancik, J.F. and Kannabiran, C. (2007) Autosomal recessive corneal endothelial
 dystrophy (CHED2) is associated with mutations in SLC4A11. *J Med Genet*, 44, 64-68.
- Ramprasad, V.L., Ebenezer, N.D., Aung, T., Rajagopal, R., Yong, V.H., Tuft, S.J.,
 Viswanathan, D., El-Ashry, M.F., Liskova, P., Tan, D.T., Bhattacharya, S.S.,
 Kumaramanickavel, G. and Vithana, E.N. (2007) Novel SLC4A11 mutations in patients
 with recessive congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy (CHED2). Mutation in brief
 #958. Online. *Hum. Mutat.*, 28, 522-523.
- Sultana, A., Garg, P., Ramamurthy, B., Vemuganti, G.K. and Kannabiran, C. (2007)
 Mutational spectrum of the SLC4A11 gene in autosomal recessive congenital hereditary
 endothelial dystrophy. *Mol Vis*, **13**, 1327-1332.
- 56 Park, S.H., Jeong, H.J., Kim, M. and Kim, M.S. (2013) A novel nonsense mutation of the SLC4A11 gene in a Korean patient with autosomal recessive congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy. *Cornea*, **32**, e181-182.
- Paliwal, P., Sharma, A., Tandon, R., Sharma, N., Titiyal, J.S., Sen, S., Nag, T.C. and
 Vajpayee, R.B. (2010) Congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy mutation analysis of
 SLC4A11 and genotype-phenotype correlation in a North Indian patient cohort. *Mol Vis*,
 16, 2955-2963.
- Aldahmesh, M.A., Khan, A.O., Meyer, B.F. and Alkuraya, F.S. (2009) Mutational spectrum of SLC4A11 in autosomal recessive CHED in Saudi Arabia. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 50, 4142-4145.

- 59 Shah, S.S., Al-Rajhi, A., Brandt, J.D., Mannis, M.J., Roos, B., Sheffield, V.C., Syed, N.A., Stone, E.M. and Fingert, J.H. (2008) Mutation in the SLC4A11 gene associated with autosomal recessive congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy in a large Saudi family. *Ophthalmic Genet*, **29**, 41-45.
- Aldave, A.J., Yellore, V.S., Bourla, N., Momi, R.S., Khan, M.A., Salem, A.K., Rayner, S.A.,
 Glasgow, B.J. and Kurtz, I. (2007) Autosomal Recessive CHED Associated With Novel
 Compound Heterozygous Mutations in SLC4A11. *Cornea*, 26, 896-900.
- 61 Kumar, A., Bhattacharjee, S., Prakash, D.R. and Sadanand, C.S. (2007) Genetic analysis of two Indian families affected with congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy: two novel mutations in SLC4A11. *Mol Vis*, **13**, 39-46.
- Riazuddin, S.A., Vithana, E.N., Seet, L.F., Liu, Y., Al-Saif, A., Koh, L.W., Heng, Y.M., Aung,
 T., Meadows, D.N., Eghrari, A.O., Gottsch, J.D. and Katsanis, N. (2010) Missense
 mutations in the sodium borate co-transporter SLC4A11 cause late onset Fuchs corneal
 dystrophy. *Hum. Mutat.*, **31**, 1261-1268.
- Soumittra, N., Loganathan, S.K., Madhavan, D., Ramprasad, V.L., Arokiasamy, T., Sumathi, S., Karthiyayini, T., Rachapalli, S.R., Kumaramanickavel, G., Casey, J.R. and Rajagopal, R. (2014) Biosynthetic and functional defects in newly identified SLC4A11 mutants and absence of COL8A2 mutations in Fuchs endothelial corneal dystrophy. *J. Hum. Genet.*, **59**, 444-453.
- Minear, M.A., Li, Y.J., Rimmler, J., Balajonda, E., Watson, S., Allingham, R.R., Hauser,
 M.A., Klintworth, G.K., Afshari, N.A. and Gregory, S.G. (2013) Genetic screen of African
 Americans with Fuchs endothelial corneal dystrophy. *Mol Vis*, **19**, 2508-2516.

- Desir, J., Moya, G., Reish, O., Van Regemorter, N., Deconinck, H., David, K.L., Meire, F.M. and Abramowicz, M. (2007) Borate transporter SLC4A11 mutations cause both
 Harboyan syndrome and non-syndromic corneal endothelial dystrophy. *J. Med. Genet.*, 44, 322-326.
- Kao, L., Azimov, R., Abuladze, N., Newman, D. and Kurtz, I. (2015) Human SLC4A11-C functions as a DIDS-stimulatable H⁺(OH⁻) permeation pathway: partial correction of R109H mutant transport. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, **308**, 176-188.
- 67 Loganathan, S.K. and Casey, J.R. (2014) Corneal Dystrophy-causing SLC4A11 Mutants: Suitability for Folding-Correction Therapy. *Human Mutation*, **35**, 1082-1091.
- Biswas, S., Munier, F.L., Yardley, J., Hart-Holden, N., Perveen, R., Cousin, P., Sutphin, J.E.,
 Noble, B., Batterbury, M., Kielty, C., Hackett, A., Bonshek, R., Ridgway, A., McLeod, D.,
 Sheffield, V.C., Stone, E.M., Schorderet, D.F. and Black, G.C. (2001) Missense mutations
 in COL8A2, the gene encoding the alpha2 chain of type VIII collagen, cause two forms of
 corneal endothelial dystrophy. *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, **10**, 2415-2423.
- Riazuddin, S.A., Parker, D.S., McGlumphy, E.J., Oh, E.C., Iliff, B.W., Schmedt, T., Jurkunas,
 U., Schleif, R., Katsanis, N. and Gottsch, J.D. (2012) Mutations in LOXHD1, a recessivedeafness locus, cause dominant late-onset Fuchs corneal dystrophy. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.*, **90**, 533-539.
- Mehta, J.S., Vithana, E.N., Tan, D.T., Yong, V.H., Yam, G.H., Law, R.W., Chong, W.G.,
 Pang, C.P. and Aung, T. (2008) Analysis of the posterior polymorphous corneal dystrophy
 3 gene, TCF8, in late-onset Fuchs endothelial corneal dystrophy. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.*, **49**, 184-188.

- Igo, R.P., Jr., Kopplin, L.J., Joseph, P., Truitt, B., Fondran, J., Bardenstein, D., Aldave, A.J.,
 Croasdale, C.R., Price, M.O., Rosenwasser, M., Lass, J.H. and Iyengar, S.K. (2012)
 Differing roles for TCF4 and COL8A2 in central corneal thickness and fuchs endothelial
 corneal dystrophy. *PLoS One*, **7**, e46742.
- Liu, J., Seet, L.F., Koh, L.W., Venkatraman, A., Venkataraman, D., Mohan, R.R.,
 Praetorius, J., Bonanno, J.A., Aung, T. and Vithana, E.N. (2012) Depletion of SLC4A11
 causes cell death by apoptosis in an immortalized human corneal endothelial cell line.
 Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 53, 3270-3279.
- Roy, S., Praneetha, D.C. and Vendra, V.P. (2015) Mutations in the Corneal Endothelial
 Dystrophy-Associated Gene SLC4A11 Render the Cells More Vulnerable to Oxidative
 Insults. *Cornea*, **34**, 668-674.
- Warwick, G. and Elston, C. (2011) Improving outcomes in patients with cystic fibrosis.*The Practitioner*, **255**, 29-32, 23.
- 75 Stoltz, D.A., Meyerholz, D.K. and Welsh, M.J. (2015) Origins of cystic fibrosis lung disease. *N Engl J Med*, **372**, 351-362.
- 76 Cheng, S.H., Gregory, R.J., Marshall, J., Paul, S., Souza, D.W., White, G.A., O'Riordan, C.R. and Smith, A.E. (1990) Defective intracellular transport and processing of CFTR is the molecular basis of most cystic fibrosis. *Cell*, **63**, 827-834.
- 77 Lukacs GL, C.X., Bear C, Kartner N, Mohamed A, Riordan JR, Grinstein S. (1993) The delta F508 mutation decreases the stability of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator in the plasma membrane. Determination of functional half-lives on transfected cells. J. Biol. Chem., 268, 21592-21598.

- 78 Norez, C., Antigny, F., Noel, S., Vandebrouck, C. and Becq, F. (2009) A CF respiratory epithelial cell chronically treated by miglustat acquires a non-CF like phenotype. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, **41**, 217-225.
- Yu, W., Kim, C.P. and Bear, C.E. (2011) Probing conformational rescue induced by a chemical corrector of F508del-cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) mutant. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **286**, 24714-24725.
- Rafferty, S., Alcolado, N., Norez, C., Chappe, F., Pelzer, S., Becq, F. and Chappe, V. (2009)
 Rescue of functional F508del cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator by
 vasoactive intestinal peptide in the human nasal epithelial cell line JME/CF15. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, **331**, 2-13.
- Tildy, B.E. and Rogers, D.F. (2015) Therapeutic Options for Hydrating Airway Mucus in
 Cystic Fibrosis. *Pharmacology*, **95**, 117-132.
- Carter, S., Kelly, S., Caples, E., Grogan, B., Doyle, J., Gallagher, C.G. and McKone, E.F.
 (2015) Ivacaftor as salvage therapy in a patient with cystic fibrosis genotype
 F508del/R117H/IVS8-5T. J Cyst Fibros, 14, e4-5.
- 83 Rowe, S.M. and Verkman, A.S. (2013) Cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator correctors and potentiators. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine*, **3**.
- 84 Rubenstein, R., Egan, M. and Zeitlin, P. (1997) In vitro pharmacologic restoration of CFTR-mediated chloride transport with sodium 4-phenylbutyrate in cystic fibrosis epithelial cells containing delta F508-CFTR. *J. Clin. Invest.*, **100**, 2457-2465.
- Robert, R., Carlile, G.W., Liao, J., Balghi, H., Lesimple, P., Liu, N., Kus, B., Rotin, D., Wilke,M., de Jonge, H.R., Scholte, B.J., Thomas, D.Y. and Hanrahan, J.W. (2010) Correction of

the Delta phe508 cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator trafficking defect by the bioavailable compound glafenine. *Mol Pharmacol*, **77**, 922-930.

- 26 Zhang, W., Fujii, N. and Naren, A. (2012) Recent advances and new perspectives in targeting CFTR for therapy of cystic fibrosis and enterotoxin-induced secretory diarrheas. *Future Medical Chemistry*, **4**, 329-345.
- Sampson, H., Lam, H., Chen, P., Zhang, D., Mottillo, C., Mirza, M., Qasim, K., Shrier, A.,
 Shyng, S., Hanrahan, J. and DY, T. (2013) Compounds that correct F508del-CFTR
 trafficking can also correct other protein trafficking diseases: an in vitro study using cell
 lines. Orphanet J Rare Dis, 8, 11.
- Robert, R., Carlile, G.W., Pavel, C., Liu, N., Anjos, S.M., Liao, J., Luo, Y., Zhang, D.,
 Thomas, D.Y. and Hanrahan, J.W. (2008) Structural analog of sildenafil identified as a
 novel corrector of the F508del-CFTR trafficking defect. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 73, 4780489.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

Oligonucleotides were from Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA). Q5[®] Site Directed Mutagenesis Kit was from New England Biolabs (Ipswich, MA). Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium, fetal bovine serum (FBS), calf serum (CS), penicillin-streptomycin-glutamine (PSG), Geneticin and Amplex[®] UltraRed Reagent were from Life Technologies (Carlsbad, CA). Cell culture dishes were from Sarstedt (Montreal, QC). Complete protease inhibitor tablets were from Roche Applied Science (Indianapolis, IN). Immobilized Streptavidin Sepharose resin, sulfo-NHS-SS-biotin, glass coverslips and 10% formalin in phosphate buffer were from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Ottawa, ON). Poly-L-lysine was from Sigma–Aldrich (Oakville, ON). Hydrogen peroxide was from Ricca Chemical Company (Arlington, TX). Immobilon-P PVDF was from Millipore (Billerica, MA). Monoclonal antibodies against HA epitope (clone 16B12) and GAPDH were from Covance (Princeton, NJ) and Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA), respectively. Horseradish peroxidase-conjugated sheep anti-mouse immunoglobulin was from GE Healthcare Bio-Sciences Corp. (Piscattaway, NJ). Luminata TM Crescendo Western HRP Substrate chemiluminescence reagent was from Millipore (Billerica, MA). All compounds for screening were from Sigma-Aldrich (Oakville, ON), Thermo Fisher Scientific (Ottawa, ON) or Cayman

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 DNA constructs

The eukaryotic expression construct (pSKL1) for splicing variant 2 of human SLC4A11, encoding an 891 amino acid protein (NCBI reference: NG_017072.1) with an N-terminal

Hemagglutinin tag (HA-tagged) was described previously (1). A shortened version of this construct removing the first 35 amino acids of the protein and the HA tag, resulting in an expression construct (pAMC1) encoding an 856 amino acid protein, was created using the Q5^{*} site directed mutagenesis kit. All subsequent modifications to pAMC1 were carried out with the Q5^{*} Kit. Double HA-epitope tags were inserted at cDNA positions encoding amino acid 495 or 529 (amino acid 530 or 564 in NCBI reference: NG_017072.1, respectively), using HA tagged pAMC1 as template. For ease of reference, numbering conventions for point mutations and HA tags are the same as in the 891 amino acid protein. Expression constructs for the point mutations E143K (c.427G>A (p.Glu143Lys)), A269V (c.806>T (p.Ala269Val)) and G709E (c.2126G>A (p.Gly709Glu)) were created, using HA tagged pAMC1 as template. Expression constructs were confirmed by DNA sequencing (Institute of Biomolecular Design, Department of Biochemistry, University of Alberta).

2.2.2 Tissue culture

HEK293 cells were grown in complete DMEM (cDMEM, supplemented with 5% (v/v) FBS, 5% (v/v) CS and 1% (v/v) penicillin/streptomycin/glutamine) maintained at 37 °C in an air/5% CO₂ environment. HEK293 cells were transiently transfected, using the calcium phosphate method (2). All experiments using transiently transfected cells were carried out 48 h posttransfection. For experiments requiring treatment of cells, compounds made up in DMEM and DMSO solution were added 16-24 h before cell harvesting. To make stably transfected cell lines, HEK293 cells were transfected and grown in cDMEM/G (cDMEM, containing 0.75 mg/ml geneticin). Cell lines were monoclonally selected.

2.2.3 Cell lysis

HEK293 cells were solubilized in IPB (1% (v/v) IGEPAL CA-630, 5 mM EDTA, 150 mM NaCl, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate (w/v), 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5), containing complete, EDTA-free, protease inhibitors (Roche Applied Science, IN, USA) and incubated for 20 min on ice. Samples were centrifuged at 13,400 g for 10 min and the resulting supernatant was isolated and stored at -20 $^{\circ}$ C.

2.2.4 Poly-L-Lysine coating of culture dishes and coverslips

96 well plates (Sarstedt, QC) or 25 mm round glass coverslips (Thermo, ON) in a 100 mm dish (Sarstedt, QC) were coated with poly-L-lysine (Sigma-Aldrich, ON), using sterile solutions in a cell culture hood. NaOH (150 μl per well of 5 M) was added to 96 well plates, which were incubated for 15 min. NaOH was then removed and wells were washed with H₂O. Ethanol (150 μl per well of 95%) was added for 5 min. Ethanol was removed and wells were rinsed with H₂O. Wells were washed twice with PBS (140 mM NaCl, 3 mM KCl, 6.5 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.5 mM KH₂PO₄, pH 7.4) and then 100 μl per well of 1 mg/ml poly-L-lysine in PBS was added for 15 min. After 15 min the plates with poly-L-lysine solution remaining in wells were left overnight under ultraviolet light. Any remaining solution was removed the next day and the plates were stored at 22 °C. Before use, plates were rinsed with PBS to remove dried salts.

2.2.5 Amplex Red High Throughput Assay

This assay is a modified version of one previously described (3, 4). Stably transfected cells were grown in T75 flasks to a confluency of approximately 90%. Growth medium was

removed and the cells were rinsed with PBS. Cells were removed from the flask using 5 ml of 0.5 mM EDTA in PBS per flask and transferred to a 15 ml conical tube. Cells were centrifuged at 1000 g (2481 rpm, Beckman GS-6K centrifuge) for 5 min. The 0.5 mM EDTA in PBS was removed and the cell pellet resuspended in 5 ml cDMEM/G. Cells were counted with a hemocytometer and plated onto a poly-L-lysine coated 96 well plate at a cell density of 2.2 x 10⁵ cells per well in 150 µl with cDMEM/G/well and the cells were placed in a 37 °C incubator for 3 h to allow the cells to settle on the plate. After 3 h, cells were treated with compounds for screening and returned to the 37 °C incubator for a period of 18-24 h. Compounds for testing were added to each well of the plate in 50 µl of cDMEM/G, containing 0.4 or 0.8% (v/v) DMSO, where indicated.

Using a multi-channel pipetter, cells were rinsed with 200 µl/well of PBSCM (PBS, containing 0.1 mM CaCl₂ and 1 mM MgCl₂). Cells were then fixed with 10% formalin in phosphate buffer for 10 min at 22 °C and then quenched with 150 µl/well of 50 mM NH₄Cl in PBS for 10 min at 22 °C. Cells were then blocked with 150 µl/well of PBS-B (1% (w/v) BSA in PBS) for 5 min at 22 °C and then incubated with monoclonal mouse anti-HA antibody (16B12) at 1:1000 dilution in PBS-B for 1 h at 22 °C. Cells were rinsed three times with 200 µl/well PBS and incubated with sheep anti-mouse IgG conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (NXA931) at 1:1500 dilution in PBS-B for 1 h at 22 °C. Cells were rinsed three times with 200 µl/well PBS. Amplex UltraRed stock solution was made to 10 mM in DMSO and frozen at -20 °C. Amplex Red working solution (200 µl/well of 50 µM Amplex UltraRed, 0.0068% H₂O₂ in PBS) was added. Plates were placed on ice and covered with aluminum foil for 10 min after which, 150 µl of the resulting solution was collected and dispensed into a black opaque 96 well plate (Sigma-Aldrich, Greiner

CELLSTAR[®]). After a 5 s shaking step, fluorescence of the solution was read in a SynergyMX Plate Reader (BioTek, VT) at an excitation wavelength of 530 nm and an emission wavelength of 590 nm at 22 °C.

2.2.6 Immunoblotting

Cell lysates were prepared in 2x SDS-PAGE sample buffer (10% (v/v) glycerol, 2% (w/v) SDS, 0.5% (w/v) bromophenol blue, 75 mM Tris, pH 6.8). Before electrophoresis, lysates were made to 1% (v/v) 2-mercaptoethanol and heated for 5 min at 65 °C. Samples were then resolved by SDS-PAGE on 7.5% (w/v) acrylamide gels (5). Proteins were electrotransferred onto Immobilon-P PVDF membranes (Millipore, MA). Mouse anti-HA, or mouse anti-GAPDH were used at 1:2,000 or 1:4,000 dilution, respectively in TBS-TM (5% skim milk powder in TBS-T: 0.1% (v/v) Tween-20, 0.15 M NaCl, 50 mM Tris, pH 7.5). After incubation for one hour at 22 °C with sheep anti-mouse HRP-conjugated secondary antibody at 1:4,000 dilution in TBSTM, immunoblots were developed, using Luminata TM Crescendo Western HRP Substrate chemiluminescence reagent and visualized, using an ImageQuant LAS 4000 (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, ON). Densitometry was performed, using ImageQuant TL 1D software, v8.1 (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, ON).

2.2.7 Cell surface biotinylation assay

Transfected or stable cells were rinsed with PBS and washed with 4 °C borate buffer (154 mM NaCl, 7.2 mM KCl, 1.8 mM CaCl₂, 10 mM boric acid, pH 9.0). Cells were then incubated with Sulpho-NHS-SS biotin (0.5 mg/ml in borate buffer) for 30 min on ice. Cells were incubated with quenching buffer (192 mM glycine, 25 mM Tris, pH 8.3) three times for 5 min. Cells were solubilized in 500 µl IPB buffer, containing protease inhibitors for 20 min on ice. Samples were centrifuged at 13,400 g for 10 min at 22 °C. Supernatant was recovered and split into two equal fractions. One fraction was reserved for later SDS-PAGE analysis (total protein, T). Immobilized streptavidin Sepharose (100 µl of 50% suspension) was added to the other fraction of lysate and placed on a rotator and left to incubate at 4 °C overnight. After incubation, the sample was centrifuged at 9800 g for 2 min and the supernatant collected (unbound protein, U). Both U and T fractions were processed for SDS-PAGE analysis and immunoblotting and densitometry as described. The formula (U-T)/T x 100% was used to determine percentage of protein biotinylated.

2.2.8 Osmotically-driven water flux assay

HEK293 cells were grown on poly-L-lysine-coated 25 mm round glass coverslips and cotransfected with cDNA encoding enhanced green fluorescent protein (GFP) (peGFP-C1 vector; Clontech, CA) and, pcDNA 3.1 (empty vector) or the indicated SLC4A11 plasmid constructs in a 1:8 molar ratio. Twenty-four h post-transfection, cells were treated with 800 µl 67.5 µM glafenine in 2.7% DMSO (v/v) resulting in a final concentration of 5 µM glafenine in 0.2% DMSO (v/v). Untreated cells received DMSO to a final concentration of 0.2%. Fourty-eight h later, coverslips were mounted in a 35 mm diameter Attofluor Cell Chamber (Molecular Probes) and washed with PBS. During experiments, the chamber was perfused with isotonic MBSS buffer (90 mM NaCl, 5.4 mM KCl, 0.4 mM MgCl₂, 0.4 mM MgSO₄, 3.3 mM NaHCO₃, 2 mM CaCl₂, 5.5 mM glucose, 100 mM D-mannitol and 10 mM HEPES, pH7.4, 300 mOsm/kg) and then with hypotonic (200 mOsm/kg) MBSS buffer, pH 7.4 (same composition as previous but lacking D-mannitol).

Solution osmolarity was measured using an osmometer (Advance Instruments Inc., Norwood, MA). The chamber was mounted on the stage of a Wave FX Spinning Disc Confocal Microscope (Quorum Technologies, ON), with a Yokogawa CSU10 scanning head. The microscope has a motorized XY stage with Piezo Focus Drive (ASI, MS-4000 XYZ Automated Stage) and a live cell environment chamber (Chamlide, Korea), set to 24 °C during the duration of the experiment. Acquisition was performed with a Hamamatsu C9100–13 Digital Camera (EM-CCD) and a 20x objective during excitation with a laser (Spectral Applied Research, ON) at 491 nm. GFP fluorescence, collected though a dichroic cube (Quorum Technologies, ON) at wavelengths 520–540 nm, was acquired at 1 point sec⁻¹ for 4 min. Quantitative image analysis was performed by selecting a region of interest for each HEK293 cell with Volocity 6.0 software (PerkinElmer, ON). Following the switch to hypotonic MBSS buffer, the rate of fluorescence change was determined from the initial 15 s of linear fluorescence change.

2.2.9 Statistical analysis

Values are expressed as mean \pm standard error of measurement. Statistical analyses were performed, using Prism software (Graphpad v5). Groups were compared with one-way ANOVA and unpaired *t*-test with *P* < 0.05 considered significant.

2.3 References

- Loganathan, S.K. and Casey, J.R. (2014) Corneal Dystrophy-causing SLC4A11 Mutants:
 Suitability for Folding-Correction Therapy. *Human Mutation*, **35**, 1082-1091.
- Ruetz, S., Lindsey, A.E., Ward, C.L. and Kopito, R.R. (1993) Functional activation of plasma membrane anion exchangers occurs in a pre-Golgi compartment. *J. Cell Biol.*, 121, 37-48.
- Glozman, R., Okiyoneda, T., Mulvihill, C.M., Rini, J.M., Barriere, H. and Lukacs, G.L.
 (2009) N-glycans are direct determinants of CFTR folding and stability in secretory and endocytic membrane traffic. *Journal of Cell Biology*, **184**, 847-862.
- Peters, K.W., Okiyoneda, T., Balch, W.E., Braakman, I., Brodsky, J.L., Guggino, W.B.,
 Penland, C.M., Pollard, H.B., Sorscher, E.J., Skach, W.R., Thomas, P.J., Lukacs, G.L. and
 Frizzell, R.A. (2011) CFTR Folding Consortium: methods available for studies of CFTR
 folding and correction. *Methods Mol Biol*, **742**, 335-353.
- 5 Laemmli, U.K. (1970) Cleavage of structural proteins during assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature*, **227**, 680-685.

Chapter 3: Identification of Chemical Correctors for the Trafficking Defect in Mutant SLC4A11

3.1 Introduction

Approximately 93,000 single amino acid mutations have been identified that cause human disease (1). The majority of these affect protein folding and trafficking (2), including 1900 mutations in the cystic fibrosis (CF) transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene (3). The most common is deletion of phenylalanine 508 (F508del), which impairs the folding and trafficking of CFTR protein, resulting in endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-retention (4, 5). Amongst genetic diseases of membrane proteins, the most common phenotype is protein ER-retention, secondary to protein misfolding. Potential small molecules correcting F508del folding have been identified to rescue F508del CFTR to the plasma membrane (6-8) including one that has entered recent clinical use (9, 10).

Small molecule folding correctors are thus proven to be effective therapeutics for ERretained membrane proteins. Development of assays amenable to high throughput drug screening are the essential first step toward identification of folding corrector drugs. Here we have targeted for folding correction an integral membrane protein, SLC4A11, whose mutations cause ER-retention or catalytic inactivity (11, 12). SLC4A11 is an attractive therapeutic target as its mutations cause blindness because of corneal defects. The relative accessibility of the cornea opens the possibility to apply small molecule folding correctors as eye drops, meaning that the treatment approach is relatively facile and treatment could be targeted to the site of disease.

In human cornea, high solute concentration of the stromal layer creates an osmotic gradient that draws water from the aqueous humor (13). This osmotic gradient is opposed by water reabsorption into the aqueous humor by the endothelial monolayer. Posterior

endothelial corneal dystrophies develop when this reabsorption is interrupted (13), giving rise to an accumulation of fluid in the stroma and abnormal formations on the endothelial layer (gutatta). The edematous corneas develop a ground-glass appearance, leading to vision loss and eventual blindness.

Congenital Hereditary Endothelial Dystrophy (CHED; MIM 217700) (14) Harboyan Syndrome (HS; MIM 217400) (15) and Fuchs' Endothelial Corneal Dystrophy (FECD; MIM 136800) (16) are three forms of genetic corneal blindness that arise in some cases from mutations in the integral membrane protein, SLC4A11 (11, 17, 18). HS patients present with sensorineuronal hearing loss in addition to progressive blindness (13). CHED and HS are recessive, whereas FECD is dominant with a 4% prevalence in North America (13). These diseases have also been linked to mutations of *COL8A2* (19), *LOXHD1* (20), *ZEB1* (21) and the transcriptional regulator, TCF4 (22, 23). The only effective treatment for these diseases is corneal transplant (13), with FECD alone accounting for 10-25% of all corneal transplants in North America (13). Tissue availability and compatibility with the recipient are major limitations of this treatment strategy. Alternative treatments could have a significant impact on not only quality of life of those suffering from these diseases, but also make available corneal tissues to treat other diseases.

SLC4A11 is a member of the SLC4 family of bicarbonate transporters, but does not transport bicarbonate (24). Plant SLC4A11 orthologs are established borate transporters (25). Human SLC4A11 was originally reported to be a Na⁺-coupled borate transporter (24), but other groups have not been able to replicate this finding (26, 27). Instead, SLC4A11 has been found to facilitate Na⁺/OH⁻ transport (28), NH₃⁺/H⁺ co-transport (29), and electrogenic H⁺(OH⁻)

permeation (30). Human SLC4A11 mediates water movement when expressed in *X. laevis* oocytes and HEK293 cells (31). Depletion of SLC4A11 leads to degeneration and apoptosis of corneal endothelial cells (28). Mutant SLC4A11 does not induce apoptosis in HEK293 cells on its own (32). One report found that HEK293 cells transfected with mutant SLC4A11 decrease expression of antioxidant proteins, rendering the cells more susceptible to oxidative stress (33). Finally, three independent *slc4a11*^{-/-} mouse lines replicate the corneal edema found in human disease (34-36), indicating that loss of SLC4A11 function causes corneal disease.

Disease causing mutations of SLC4A11 display two molecular phenotypes: catalytically inactive and ER-retained (31). In both cases, SLC4A11 is unable to perform its role in transport across the basolateral surface of the endothelial layer, resulting in development of symptoms of CHED, HS and FECD. Approximately 60 disease-causing point mutations of human SLC4A11 have been identified (11, 12, 17, 18, 37-50). Some ER-retained mutants of SLC4A11 could be rescued to the cell surface in cells cultured at 30 °C, suggesting a temperature-sensitive folding defect (51). Moreover, the rescued protein displayed functional activity upon rescue (32), suggesting that rescue from the ER is a promising therapeutic approach.

CHED, HS and FECD differ in their genetics of inheritance and age of onset, which in part is explained by SLC4A11 dimerization. CHED and HS show autosomal recessive inheritance with symptom onset in the first decade of life (13, 18). SLC4A11 is dimeric and CHED mutant/wildtype (WT) heterodimers traffic to the cell surface, enabling sufficient traffic of WT protein to the cell surface to prevent disease symptoms in carriers (51). The recessive ERretention phenotype of CHED SLC4A11 explains this disease's inheritance. Individuals with FECD do not experience symptoms until the fourth or fifth decade of life (13). FECD SLC4A11/WT

heterodimers do not traffic to the cell surface, indicating that the FECD protein phenotype is dominant over WT (51). Examination of the level of cell surface transport activity in cells mimicking CHED carrier (unaffected), CHED affected (early onset symptoms) and FECD affected (late onset symptoms) states revealed that 25% of the functional activity of unaffected individuals will delay the onset of disease symptoms and 60% will prevent corneal dystrophy symptoms (32).

In this study, we developed an assay amenable to high throughput screening to identify small molecule correctors of SLC4A11 misprocessing defect. This screen was modified from one used to identify correctors of F508del CFTR (52, 53). To assess further the ability of the technique to identify SLC4A11 therapeutics, we performed a small scale screen of potential correctors. One candidate compound was characterized and found to show a promising ability to rescue SLC4A11 cell surface functional activity.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Amplex red high throughput assay

A chemical therapy to treat corneal endothelial dystrophies associated with missense mutations of SLC4A11 requires rescue of the ER-retained, mutant SLC4A11 protein to the plasma membrane. Accurate measurement of the level of SLC4A11 at the cell surface is needed to identify suitable chemical correctors. Additionally, the method to screen compounds should be high throughput to enable screening many compounds at once. Existing techniques such as cell surface biotinylation (54) can measure the level of protein at the plasma membrane, but are time and material intensive. An easily accessible, reliable and high throughput method to detect SLC4A11 at the cell surface is needed. We developed a high throughput method to identify HA-tagged SLC4A11 at the plasma membrane, which can be applied to any epitopetagged plasma membrane protein. This assay was inspired by an assay to measure movement of CFTR-F508del to the cell surface (53).

The first step was to insert an epitope tag into an extracellular position, allowing detection of protein at the cell surface in intact cells. Positions for epitope insertion were selected based on proteolytic analysis of the extracellular loops (55). Double hemagglutinin epitope (HA) tags were inserted into extracellular loop three at amino acid 530 or 564 (Fig. 3.1A).

To assess SLC4A11 function, HEK293 cells were co-transfected with cDNA encoding GFP and cDNA encoding SLC4A11 constructs. Cells were perfused with iso-osmotic medium and then hypo-osmotic medium. GFP fluorescence was monitored



Figure 3.1 SLC4A11 topology model and characterization of epitope-tagged SLC4A11. A) SLC4A11 topology model established by *in situ* limited proteolysis and immunolocalization of the C-terminus (55). Mutations associated with FECD (blue), CHED2 (red) and HS (orange) are highlighted. Position of double HA epitope tag is indicated following H564. Structures at amino acids 545 and 553 mark glycosylation sites. B) Osmotically driven water influx activity of HEK293 cells transiently co-transfected with cDNA encoding GFP and WT SLC4A11 and SLC4A11 with double HA tag insertion following H530, or H564, or vector. GFP fluorescence was monitored in a region of interest in cells subjected to a shift to hypo-osmotic medium. The initial rate of fluorescence decrease following shift to hypo-osmotic medium (a surrogate for cell swelling) was measured as the rate of cell swelling. Data were corrected for the rate in vector transfected cells (41% ± 3% relative to non-corrected WT) and normalized to WT SLC4A11. Data represent the mean ± SEM water flux of 3–6 independent experiments of 10-20 cells per coverslip. N.S.: not significant. as a measure of cytosolic GFP concentration (31). The rate of fluorescence change, which is a surrogate for cell volume change, was measured and corrected for the rate found in vectortransfected cells (Fig. 3.1B) (31). Water fluxes of cells expressing WT and HA-tagged SLC4A11 were not significantly different (Fig. 3.1B). These data reveal that insertion of a double HA-tag did not alter functional activity of the two mutants, indicating that their folding is not compromised by epitope tag insertion.

HEK293 cells, stably expressing HA-tagged SLC4A11 variants, were established for the assay. The first had an N-terminal HA tag (on the cytoplasmic domain), allowing it to be used as a control for detection of accessible cytosolic epitopes (Fig. 3.1A). The second had the double HA-tag following H564, to detect cell surface protein. The remaining three cell lines express the SLC4A11 disease alleles A269V (CHED), E143K (CHED) and G709E (FECD) (12, 39, 41), along with a double HA tag after H564. These three mutations were chosen because culture of these mutants in cells at 30 °C induced partial rescue to the cell surface, suggesting that these proteins had the potential to be cell-surface rescued by small molecules (55).

In this high throughput assay (HTA) cells stably expressing SLC4A11 variants are cultured in 96 well dishes. Incubation with anti-HA antibody allows binding of cell surface HA epitopes. The primary antibody is detected by a secondary antibody, conjugated to horse radish peroxidase (HRP). Amplex red reagent, in the presence of H₂O₂, is cleaved by HRP to produce resorufin, a highly fluorescent red compound (Fig. 3.2) (56). Red fluorescence is then quantified on a 96 well plate fluorescence reader.

We first assessed whether the HTA can differentiate between cell surface and ERretained SLC4A11. The maximum resorufin fluorescence was found for cells



Figure 3.2 Diagramatic representation of Amplex Red High throughput Assay (HTA). HA epitope (yellow circle) can be placed at the cytoplasmic N-terminus of SLC4A11 (right) or in an extracellular loop (left). With either tag, WT SLC4A11 traffics to the plasma membrane. Only protein with an extracellular (external) HA tag is detected by a mouse anti-HA antibody (black Y) and is in turn detected by a sheep anti-mouse IgG conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (HRP). Amplex red, in the presence of hydrogen peroxide and HRP is cleaved to produce resorufin, a highly fluorescent red product. expressing WT SLC4A11 with extracellular HA tag, a value that was used to normalize the fluorescence level for the other variants for screening. Cells stably expressing SLC4A11 were created for use with the HTA (Fig 3.3A). Cells expressing N-terminally (internal) HA-tagged WT SLC4A11 had a fluorescence signal of $19\% \pm 3\%$ of the externally HA-tagged WT (HA 564) (Fig. 3.3B). Since the HA tag of the N-terminally tagged WT is not present at the cell surface, this represents non-specific background of the assay. The A269V line gave a fluorescent signal of $62\% \pm 13\%$ relative to externally tagged WT. A269V SLC4A11 partially traffics to the plasma membrane at levels approximately 50% of WT (55). E143K and G709E mutant lines both gave fluorescent signals of $24\% \pm 3\%$, which is indistinguishable from N-terminal HA tag WT. This was expected as both mutants are ER-retained (12, 51, 55).

To assess the validity of the cell surface processing measurements determined by the HTA, we also measured cell surface expression, using cell surface biotinylation. In these assays cells were treated with membrane-impermeant biotinylating reagent, and the fraction of biotinylated protein (extracellular-accessible) was determined (Fig. 3.3C). Cytosolic GAPDH served as a negative control for the assay and its level of biotinylation was subtracted from the values for SLC4A11 variants. Relative to WT SLC4A11, 190% ± 2%, 54% ± 3%, 0% ± 8% and 0% ± 7% protein was biotinylated for External Tag WT, A269V, E143K and G709E respectively.

To compare the level of surface SLC4A11 determined by the HTA and cell surface biotinylation, the background value was subtracted from the data in each assay. That is, in the HTA (Fig. 3.3B) fluorescence observed for cells expressing N-terminally HA-tagged WT SLC4a11 was subtracted and in cell surface biotinylation, the level of biotinylation by cytosolic



Figure 3.3 Comparison of cell surface SLC4A11 level as measured by high throughput assay (HTA) and cell surface biotinylation. A) In the HTA protocol, HEK293 cells stably expressing the indicated SLC4A11 variants (with an N-terminal cytosolic HA tag (N-HA), or with an external double HA tag (HA 564)) and processed through the HTA. Cells were incubated with amplex red reagent, which in the presence of HRP/H₂O₂, is converted to the fluorescent red product, resorufin. Red fluorescence in each well was quantified on a 96 well plate fluorescence reader.

Data were normalized to HA 564 WT. *: significant difference (P < 0.05). Data represent the mean \pm SEM of fluorescence relative to HA 564 WT (n = 8 wells). Dashed line indicates the fluorescence level of cells expressing N-terminally tagged SLC4A11, representing the background level of the assay. B) Cell surface biotinylation assay of cells stably expressing the indicated SLC4A11 variants. HEK293 cells were incubated with membrane-impermeant biotinylating reagent. Cell lysates were incubated with streptavidin Sepharose to remove the biotinylated proteins. The fraction of biotinylated protein, representing cell surface protein, was quantified. The level of biotinylation of GAPDH (6% \pm 11%), representing the background of the assay, was subtracted from all values. Data represent the mean \pm SEM of % total protein biotinylated (n = 3).

GAPDH was subtracted. Relative cell surface processing values (Fig. 3.3B, C) were compared for the two techniques. In each case (each of the extracellular tagged WT, A269V, E143K and G709E) the relative cell surface level obtained for each variant was not significantly different when data from the two methods were compared. The N-terminal HA-tagged WT stable cell line displays a significantly higher biotinylation compared to HA 564 WT cell line, suggesting that the extracellular tag affected processing efficiency (Fig. 3.3C). Together these results indicate that the HTA reliably quantifies the fraction of SLC4A11 at the cell surface.

3.2.2 Small-scale screen of folding corrector drugs

We next examined the ability of the HTA to identify chemical correctors of mutant SLC4A11 misfolding. We thus carried out a small screen, focused on compounds effective in rescue of ER-retained CFTR mutants (57-65). Concentrations of each of the compounds screened were selected on the basis of the effective concentrations for CFTR rescue. Acetylsalicylic acid has not been previously examined in the literature. We chose to test acetylsalicylic acid because it is a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) and other NSAIDs rescue some ER-retained proteins to the plasma membrane (57, 61, 65). To emulate a large scale screen, compounds were initially screened with four replicates on a single plate (Fig. 3.4). Because this was a small-scale screen, compounds were added manually, using a multichannel pipetter, whereas a large screen would make use of robotic plating. A269V, E143K and G709E mutant stable cells were treated with each of 11 different small molecules, and with solvent carrier (0.1% or 0.2% DMSO) (Fig. 3.4). DMSO was used at two concentrations since



Figure 3.4 A small-scale screen of potential SLC4A11 folding corrector compounds. In the HTA assay protocol, cells stably expressing the indicated SLC4A11 mutants were treated with compounds at indicated concentrations for a period of 18-24 hours. Assays were carried out in the presence of A) 0.1% DMSO (except TMAO, 4-PBA and glycerol, which were screened in the absence of DMSO) or B) 0.2% DMSO. Red fluorescence arising from amplex red conversion to resorufin, was measured on a 96 well plate reader. Data represent the mean ± SEM of fluorescence relative to the level found for each untreated variant, (n = 4). *: significant difference (P < 0.05). ASA – acetylsalicylic acid, Carb – carbamazepine, Geld – geldanamycin.

high concentrations of DMSO act to assist folding of some misfolded proteins (66). We wanted to determine whether there might be a synergistic effect of low concentration DMSO and other small molecules. DMSO at 0.1% and 0.2% did not significantly affect cell surface levels of SLC4A11 mutants, as assessed by the HTA (Fig. 3.4A, B).

In this initial screen, most compounds gave results clustering around 100% of untreated cell surface expression (Fig. 3.4). Five compounds, glafenine, ibuprofen, acetylsalicylic acid, carbamazepine and MG-132, stood out as leading to mutant SLC4A11 cell surface abundance about 1.5 fold higher than in untreated cells. Reflecting the limitations of this HTA, these compounds did not show significant difference from untreated controls for each mutant when subjected to screening on a single plate. These three compounds were subjected to additional screening to determine whether their effect on cell surface processing was significant (Fig. 3.5).

Glafenine (10 μ M) in the presence of 0.2% DMSO led to a significant increase in relative fluorescence for all three mutants tested, compared to 0.2% DMSO-treated cells (Fig. 3.5). Ibuprofen (10 μ M) in 0.2% DMSO only had a significant effect on A269V and E143K. Acetylsalicylic acid (10 μ M) in 0.2% DMSO only had a significant effect on A269V. Most compounds screened had no significant effect on HTA-measured cell surface processing for any of the mutants (Fig. 3.4 and 3.5). These results show that the HTA can discriminate between compounds that affect the cell surface level of SLC4A11 mutants from those that do not. Because glafenine treatment gives rise to an increase in relative fluorescence for all three of the mutants, we moved forward with this compound for further experiments.



В

Figure 3.5 High-repetition screening of compounds identified in preliminary screen. HTA was used to assess the level of SLC4A11 cell surface abundance in the presence of A) 0.1% or B) 0.2% DMSO. Data represent the mean \pm SEM of fluorescence relative to the level found for each untreated variant, (n = 12). *: significant difference (P < 0.05).

3.2.3 Dose-response to glafenine of G709E-SLC4A11 trafficking

The HTA suggested that glafenine, when applied in 0.2% DMSO was effective at increasing the cell surface abundance of ER-retained SLC4A11 mutants. To further probe the effect of glafenine on mutant SLC4A11, we established the relationship for the compound's effects. We tested G709E-SLC4A11 as this mutant is profoundly affected, showing nearly complete ER-retention (Fig. 3.3). Stable cells expressing the G709E mutant were treated with 0-20 μ M glafenine, and the amount of fluorescence produced in the HTA was measured. The dose-response curve displayed classical saturating kinetics, revealing that G709E-SLC4A11 was rescued with an EC₅₀ of 1.5 ± 0.7 μ M (Fig. 3.6).

3.2.4 Effect of glafenine on SLC4A11 cell surface trafficking

To assess further the effect of glafenine on mutant SLC4A11, we measured cell surface processing, using the cell surface biotinylation assay (Fig. 3.7). For this experiment, we used transiently transfected cells rather than stable cell lines, to provide an assessment in a different cell context. Transfected cells were treated with or without 5 μ M glafenine with 0.2% DMSO 24 h prior to biotinylation. Cells not treated with glafenine were incubated with 0.2% DMSO solvent carrier. For all three mutants, a significant difference of biotinylation was found between the untreated and treated cohorts (Fig. 3.7). Interestingly, 5 μ M glafenine did not significantly alter WT SLC4A11 cell surface processing. Additionally, 27% ± 5% and 26% ± 7% of E143K and G709E SLC4A11, respectively, was at the cell surface. This is similar to the cell surface processing values determined in the HTA in the presence of 10 μ M glafenine (39% ±



Figure 3.6 Correction of G709E-SLC4A11 trafficking by glafenine. Cells stably expressing G709E-SLC4A11 were subjected to the HTA protocol on 96 well plates in the presence of indicated concentrations of glafenine and 0.2% DMSO. Red fluorescence arising from amplex red conversion to resorufin, was measured in each well. Fluorescence values of cells treated with 0 μ M glafenine were subtracted from each value and data were normalized to the maximum red fluorescence observed. Data represent the mean ± SEM fluorescence (n = 8). EC₅₀ was calculated to be 1.5 ± 0.7 μ M glafenine.


Figure 3.7 Effect of glafenine on mutant SLC4A11 cell surface processing efficiency. Cells were transiently transfected with vector or cDNA encoding the indicated SLC4A11 type. Twenty-four hours post transfection, cells were treated with 0.2% DMSO (-) or 5 μ M glafenine and 0.2% DMSO (+). Cells were subjected to cell surface biotinylation assays 48 hours post transfection. Samples have been corrected for GAPDH biotinylation which represents the background of the assay. N.S., no significant difference. *: significant difference (P < 0.05, n = 3-4).

3% and 34% \pm 2% respectively) (Fig. 3.5). These data confirm that glafenine in the presence of 0.2% DMSO increased the level of cell surface processing of three ER-retained SLC4A11 mutants.

3.2.5 Glafenine restores mutant SLC4A11 transport function

Glafenine rescued SLC4A11 to the plasma membrane, but the results have little therapeutic significance unless the rescued protein is functional. We thus assessed the effect of glafenine on osmotically-driven water flux in HEK293 cells expressing the three mutants (Fig. 3.8). A269V, E143K and G709E SLC4A11 mutants without glafenine treatment showed a low water flux activity, $16\% \pm 1\%$, $13\% \pm 1\%$ and $12\% \pm 1\%$, relative to WT SLC4A11 respectively. Glafenine treatment induced a significant increase in water flux activity for all three mutants ($67\% \pm 8\%$, $87\% \pm 6\%$ and $114\% \pm 11\%$, relative to WT SLC4A11 respectively). Glafenine did not affect water flux in cells expressing WT SLC4A11. This is consistent with the findings of the cell surface biotinylation assay (Fig. 3.7), where glafenine treatment did not significantly affect WT SLC4A11. Furthermore, cells expressing the mutants had their water flux increase to a level not significantly different to WT SLC4A11. These data indicate that these mutants retain functional activity and, if rescued to the plasma membrane, are as effective as WT SLC4A11 in terms of functional activity. Glafenine treatment may represent a feasible pharmacological therapeutic for these mutations of SLC4A11.



Figure 3.8 Effect of glafenine on osmotically-driven water flux by ER-retained mutant SLC4A11. HEK293 cells were transiently co-transfected cDNA encoding external H564 HA-tagged SLC4A11- WT, A269V, E143K, G709E or vector, along with GFP CDNA. The level of green florescence was quantified in regions of interest in cells as medium was changed from isoosmotic to hypo-osmotic. The rate of fluorescence change upon switching to hypo-osmotic medium was measured as a surrogate for the rate of cell swelling. Data were corrected for rates observed in vector transfected cells and normalized to WT SLC4A11. Data represent the mean ± SEM of 3-5 independent experiments of 10-20 cells per coverslip. *: significant difference in water flux (P < 0.05). N.S., no significant difference compared to WT SLC4A11 without glafenine treatment.

3.3 Discussion

The goal of this study was to develop a high throughput assay (HTA) able to screen for compounds that increase the processing of ER-retained SLC4A11 mutants to the cell surface. The assay, working in a 96 well format, provided reliable measurements of surface abundance of SLC4A11. An initial small screen with potential correcting molecules identified glafenine as increasing the level of mutant SLC4A11 at the plasma membrane. Independent assessment by cell surface biotinylation revealed that glafenine does increase mutant processing to the cell surface. Glafenine increased the water flux activity of cells expressing SLC4A11 mutants to levels found in cells expressing WT-SLC4A11. The efficacy of glafenine suggests that corrector drugs with potential efficacy in treating corneal dystrophies caused by SLC4A11 mutants can be identified, using the HTA described here.

Although there are other methods to measure protein abundance at the plasma membrane, including cell surface biotinylation, flow cytometry or confocal microscopy based immunofluorescence, these are relatively time and material intensive. Development of high throughput assays to detect protein at the cell surface has been of recent interest to many different groups (67-70). We developed an assay using amplex red and commonly available equipment to detect fluorescence. This assay includes elements of an assay developed to assess F508del CFTR cell surface processing (52, 53). We modified the assay moving from a 24 well format to 96 wells, enabling a higher level of assay throughput. We found that the cells needed to grow to almost 100% confluency on 96 well plates, otherwise they would detach from the wells during the multiple washes of the cells and the experiment would fail. We also coated the

96 well plates with poly-L-lysine to promote cell adhesion. As another step to reduce cell loss, we fixed the cells, using formalin. We also found that deplating the stable cell lines with trypsin adversely affected our results because of the proteolytic sites located on the extracellular loop where the HA epitope is located (55). Instead, we deplated cells, using 0.5 mM EDTA in PBS. Finally, we used a 1% BSA in PBS solution instead of DMEM-HEPES in immune steps of the protocol. Together these modifications provide an assay amenable to high throughput screening of SLC4A11 folding correctors.

The data indicate that the HTA provides reliable data, reflecting the relative cell surface abundance of SLC4A11 variants. We were concerned that the epitope insertion required for the assay might affect SLC4A11 folding. Transport function was unaffected by the epitope insertion, as measured in water flux assays in transiently-transfected cells indicating no effect on cell surface processing and folding. In contrast, cell surface biotinylation of stably-transfected cells suggested a reduced cell surface processing of the H564 HA insertion mutant, relative to the Nterminally tagged protein. While this suggests that the epitope insertion had an effect, we were reassured that cell surface biotinylation of H564 HA tagged proteins (Fig. 3.3B) was not different from that reported for untagged versions (51, 55).

Cell surface biotinylation data correlated well with HTA data, indicating that the HTA represents the relative cell surface abundance of SLC4A11 variants. We found a similar protein biotinylation pattern across the mutant types compared to the relative fluorescence from the HTA. Cells that express an extracellularly inaccessible, cytosolic HA tag (N-Terminal HA Tag WT), or that express extracellularly tagged HA-SLC4A11 that is ER-retained (E143K and G709E) produce approximately 20% fluorescence relative to the external HA Tag WT. This background

fluorescence may arise from non-HRP catalyzed amplex red conversion, or reflect some degree of cell lysis, allowing antibody access to intracellular HA-epitopes.

Assay capacity is a significant issue as we look ahead to screens of larger compound libraries. We found that at least four replicates in a single dish were needed to produce a reliable result. In a 96 well format, this could translate to 22 unique conditions per plate, assuming that both the positive and negative controls are also performed in four replicates. Although we could detect a difference in fluorescence for cells treated with compounds in four replicates, further replicates were needed to lessen standard error to produce statistically significant results. The assay could be further refined by use of larger format (e.g. 128 or 256 well) plates. One major limitation of the HTA is the skill and reproducibility of the person performing the assay. This limitation could be overcome with robotic automation, especially if larger format plates are used.

Currently, the only permanent treatment strategy for corneal endothelial dystrophies is corneal transplant. Corneal transplant is complicated by tissue availability, recipient rejection and the high amount of skill and resources required to perform the transplant. Additional treatment options for corneal dystrophies caused by SLC4A11 mutants are much needed. In this study, we identified glafenine combined with 0.2% DMSO as a potential pharmacological corrector for the trafficking defect of the A269V, E143K and G709E mutations of SLC4A11 (Fig. 3.5). Our screen also identified ibuprofen and acetylsalicylic acid as correcting the defect of some SLC4A11 mutants. It remains to be determined if other mutations of SLC4A11 will respond in a similar fashion to these drugs as those studied here.

We decided to further characterize glafenine as it was the only compound that was identified as effective in rescuing all three mutants screened. Glafenine is a non-steroidal antiinflammatory drug (NSAID), used as an analgesic mainly in Europe in the 1970's. Its use was discontinued because it was implicated in anaphylaxis, gastrointestinal injury and kidney failure (71, 72). Recently, glafenine was found to rescue the F508del mutation of CFTR and the G601S mutation of the hERG K⁺ channel to the plasma membrane (57, 61). The mechanism of rescue by glafenine for these unrelated proteins is unknown. Most NSAIDs work by inhibition of one or both of the cyclooxygenase (COX) isoforms (73, 74). Both COX-1 and COX-2 are integral membrane proteins (75), but any relationship between inhibition of these enzymes and the rescue of mutant membrane proteins is unclear. We determined that the EC₅₀ of glafenine in SLC4A11 rescue was 1.5 μ M (Fig. 3.6), but could not find literature identifying the EC₅₀ of glafenine as a COX inhibitor. Clinically, glafenine can achieve plasma concentrations up to 10 μ M (61, 76).

Our initial HTA screen of compounds included the NSAIDs acetylsalicylic acid and ibuprofen. When used with 0.2% DMSO, acetylsalicylic acid had a significant effect on A269V mutant (Fig. 3.5). Ibuprofen with 0.2% DMSO had a significant effect on A269V and E143K mutants (Fig. 3.5). Ibuprofen is effective in rescuing F508del CFTR and is proposed to do so through inhibition of COX-1 (65). Knockdown of COX-1 in HEK293 cells expressing F508del CFTR is effective in rescuing the mutant protein, however, knockdown of COX-2 does not have a significant effect on F508del CFTR (65). Rescue of mutant CFTR, and now SLC4A11, with the use of NSAIDs suggests that prostaglandin synthesis plays a role in ER-retention of mutant

membrane proteins. Further probing of this mechanism could lead to a novel treatment strategy for diseases involving ER-retained membrane proteins.

Despite rescue of mutant SLC4A11 to the plasma membrane, these results are only clinically relevant if the mutant proteins remain functional once at the plasma membrane. Prior work showed that E143K forms heterodimers with R125H-SLC4A11 monomer and displays a functional activity of approximately 40% that of WT SLC4A11 (32). R125H is a catalytically inactive SLC4A11 mutant that traffics to the plasma membrane just as WT SLC4A11, and which brings E143K to the cell surface in heterodimers. This showed that if E143K was trafficked to the plasma membrane, it would be functional. Furthermore, to delay onset of symptoms associated with corneal dystrophies, 25% of the function of WT SLC4A11 is required and to completely avoid symptoms, 60% of WT SLC4A11 function is required (32). Our *in vitro* investigations revealed that the 60% benchmark can be exceeded for all three SLC4A11 mutants treated with glafenine (Fig. 3.8). Treatment with glafenine could, thus, represent an effective pharmacological therapy. Interestingly, the G709E mutation after treatment with glafenine produced a higher, albeit not significantly different, level of water influx than the WT (Fig. 3.8).

This study leads to three major conclusions. First, the HTA we developed is an effective and reliable method to determine the abundance of SLC4A11 at the plasma membrane. Second, glafenine in 0.2% (v/v) DMSO corrects the trafficking defect for A269V, E143K and G709E mutations of SLC4A11. Third, mutant SLC4A11 remains functional once localized to the plasma membrane and this functionality may be of sufficient level to prevent symptoms of corneal dystrophies. Here we presented a paradigm for the high throughput identification and

in vitro testing of potential SLC4A11 folding correctors. These data suggest that glafenine is a potential pharmacological therapeutic for some corneal dystrophy-causing mutants of SLC4A11.

3.4 References

- 1 Stenson, P., Mort, M., Ball, E., Shaw, K., Phillips, A. and Cooper, D. (2014) The Human Gene Mutation Database: building a comprehensive mutation repository for clinical and molecular genetics, diagnostic testing and personalized genomic medicine. *Human genetics*, **133**, 1-9.
- 2 Sanders, C.R. and Myers, J.K. (2004) Disease-related misassembly of membrane proteins. *Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct*, **33**, 25-51.
- Rommens, J.M. *Cystic Fibrosis Mutation Database*. 2011.
 http://www.genet.sickkids.on.ca/cftr
- 4 Cheng, S.H., Gregory, R.J., Marshall, J., Paul, S., Souza, D.W., White, G.A., O'Riordan, C.R. and Smith, A.E. (1990) Defective intracellular transport and processing of CFTR is the molecular basis of most cystic fibrosis. *Cell*, **63**, 827-834.
- 5 Lukacs GL, C.X., Bear C, Kartner N, Mohamed A, Riordan JR, Grinstein S. (1993) The delta F508 mutation decreases the stability of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator in the plasma membrane. Determination of functional half-lives on transfected cells. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **268**, 21592-21598.
- 6 Norez, C., Antigny, F., Noel, S., Vandebrouck, C. and Becq, F. (2009) A CF respiratory epithelial cell chronically treated by miglustat acquires a non-CF like phenotype. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol*, **41**, 217-225.
- 7 Yu, W., Kim, C.P. and Bear, C.E. (2011) Probing conformational rescue induced by a chemical corrector of F508del-cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) mutant. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **286**, 24714-24725.

- Rafferty, S., Alcolado, N., Norez, C., Chappe, F., Pelzer, S., Becq, F. and Chappe, V. (2009)
 Rescue of functional F508del cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator by
 vasoactive intestinal peptide in the human nasal epithelial cell line JME/CF15. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.*, **331**, 2-13.
- Tildy, B.E. and Rogers, D.F. (2015) Therapeutic Options for Hydrating Airway Mucus in
 Cystic Fibrosis. *Pharmacology*, **95**, 117-132.
- Carter, S., Kelly, S., Caples, E., Grogan, B., Doyle, J., Gallagher, C.G. and McKone, E.F.
 (2015) Ivacaftor as salvage therapy in a patient with cystic fibrosis genotype
 F508del/R117H/IVS8-5T. J Cyst Fibros, 14, e4-5.
- Vithana, E.N., Morgan, P., Sundaresan, P., Ebenezer, N.D., Tan, D.T., Mohamed, M.D.,
 Anand, S., Khine, K.O., Venkataraman, D., Yong, V.H., Salto-Tellez, M., Venkatraman, A.,
 Guo, K., Hemadevi, B., Srinivasan, M., Prajna, V., Khine, M., Casey, J.R., Inglehearn, C.F.
 and Aung, T. (2006) Mutations in sodium-borate cotransporter SLC4A11 cause recessive
 congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy (CHED2). *Nature Genetics*, **38**, 755-757.
- Vithana, E.N., Morgan, P.E., Ramprasad, V., Tan, D.T., Yong, V.H., Venkataraman, D.,
 Venkatraman, A., Yam, G.H., Nagasamy, S., Law, R.W., Rajagopal, R., Pang, C.P.,
 Kumaramanickevel, G., Casey, J.R. and Aung, T. (2008) SLC4A11 Mutations in Fuchs
 Endothelial Corneal Dystrophy (FECD). *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, **17**, 656-666.
- 13 Klintworth, G.K. (2009) Corneal dystrophies. Orphanet J Rare Dis, 4, 7.
- 14 Pearce, W.G., Tripathi, R.C. and Morgan, G. (1969) Congenital endothelial corneal dystrophy. Clinical, pathological, and genetic study. *Br. J. Ophthalmol*, **53**, 577-591.

- Harboyan, G., Mamo, J., Kaloustian, V.d. and Karam, F. (1971) Congenital corneal
 dystrophy. Progressive sensorineural deafness in a family. *Arch Ophthalmol*, 85, 27-32.
- 16 Fuchs, E. (1910) Dystrophia epithelialis corneae. *AlbrechtVan Graefes Arch. Klin. Exp. Ophthalmol*, **76**, 478-508.
- Sultana, A., Garg, P., Ramamurthy, B., Vemuganti, G.K. and Kannabiran, C. (2007)
 Mutational spectrum of the SLC4A11 gene in autosomal recessive congenital hereditary
 endothelial dystrophy. *Mol Vis*, **13**, 1327-1332.
- Aldave, A.J., Yellore, V.S., Bourla, N., Momi, R.S., Khan, M.A., Salem, A.K., Rayner, S.A.,
 Glasgow, B.J. and Kurtz, I. (2007) Autosomal Recessive CHED Associated With Novel
 Compound Heterozygous Mutations in SLC4A11. *Cornea*, 26, 896-900.
- Biswas, S., Munier, F.L., Yardley, J., Hart-Holden, N., Perveen, R., Cousin, P., Sutphin, J.E.,
 Noble, B., Batterbury, M., Kielty, C., Hackett, A., Bonshek, R., Ridgway, A., McLeod, D.,
 Sheffield, V.C., Stone, E.M., Schorderet, D.F. and Black, G.C. (2001) Missense mutations
 in COL8A2, the gene encoding the alpha2 chain of type VIII collagen, cause two forms of
 corneal endothelial dystrophy. *Hum. Mol. Genet.*, **10**, 2415-2423.
- Riazuddin, S.A., Parker, D.S., McGlumphy, E.J., Oh, E.C., Iliff, B.W., Schmedt, T., Jurkunas,
 U., Schleif, R., Katsanis, N. and Gottsch, J.D. (2012) Mutations in LOXHD1, a recessive deafness locus, cause dominant late-onset Fuchs corneal dystrophy. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.*,
 90, 533-539.
- 21 Iliff, B.W., Riazuddin, S.A. and Gottsch, J.D. (2012) The genetics of Fuchs' corneal dystrophy. *Expert Rev Ophthalmol*, **7**, 363-375.

- Mehta, J.S., Vithana, E.N., Tan, D.T., Yong, V.H., Yam, G.H., Law, R.W., Chong, W.G.,
 Pang, C.P. and Aung, T. (2008) Analysis of the posterior polymorphous corneal dystrophy
 3 gene, TCF8, in late-onset Fuchs endothelial corneal dystrophy. *Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.*, **49**, 184-188.
- Igo, R.P., Jr., Kopplin, L.J., Joseph, P., Truitt, B., Fondran, J., Bardenstein, D., Aldave, A.J.,
 Croasdale, C.R., Price, M.O., Rosenwasser, M., Lass, J.H. and Iyengar, S.K. (2012)
 Differing roles for TCF4 and COL8A2 in central corneal thickness and fuchs endothelial
 corneal dystrophy. *PLoS One*, **7**, e46742.
- Park, M., Li, Q., Shcheynikov, N., Zeng, W. and Muallem, S. (2004) NaBC1 is a ubiquitous electrogenic Na⁺ -coupled borate transporter essential for cellular boron homeostasis and cell growth and proliferation. *Mol. Cell*, **16**, 331-341.
- Parker, M.D., Ourmozdi, E.P. and Tanner, M.J. (2001) Human BTR1, a New Bicarbonate
 Transporter Superfamily Member and Human AE4 from Kidney. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 282, 1103-1109.
- Jalimarada, S.S., Ogando, D.G., Vithana, E.N. and Bonanno, J.A. (2013) Ion Transport
 Function of SLC4A11 in Corneal Endothelium. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 54, 4330-4340.
- Ogando, D.G., Jalimarada, S.S., Zhang, W., Vithana, E.N. and Bonanno, J.A. (2013)
 SLC4A11 is an EIPA-sensitive Na⁺ permeable pHi regulator. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, **305**, C716-727.
- Liu, J., Seet, L.F., Koh, L.W., Venkatraman, A., Venkataraman, D., Mohan, R.R.,
 Praetorius, J., Bonanno, J.A., Aung, T. and Vithana, E.N. (2012) Depletion of SLC4A11

causes cell death by apoptosis in an immortalized human corneal endothelial cell line. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, **53**, 3270-3279.

- Zhang, W., Ogando, D.G., Bonanno, J.A. and Obukhov, A.G. (2015) Human SLC4A11 is a
 Novel NH₃:H⁺ Co-transporter. *J Biol Chem*, in press.
- 30 Kao, L., Azimov, R., Abuladze, N., Newman, D. and Kurtz, I. (2015) Human SLC4A11-C functions as a DIDS-stimulatable H⁺(OH⁻) permeation pathway: partial correction of R109H mutant transport. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, **308**, 176-188.
- Vilas, G.L., Loganathan, S.K., Liu, J., Riau, A.K., Young, J.D., Mehta, J.S., Vithana, E.N. and Casey, J.R. (2013) Transmembrane water-flux through SLC4A11: a route defective in genetic corneal diseases. *Hum Mol Genet*, **22**, 4579-4590.
- Loganathan, S.K. and Casey, J.R. (2014) Corneal Dystrophy-causing SLC4A11 Mutants:
 Suitability for Folding-Correction Therapy. *Human Mutation*, **35**, 1082-1091.
- Roy, S., Praneetha, D.C. and Vendra, V.P. (2015) Mutations in the Corneal Endothelial
 Dystrophy-Associated Gene SLC4A11 Render the Cells More Vulnerable to Oxidative
 Insults. *Cornea*, **34**, 668-674.
- Han, S.B., Ang, H.P., Poh, R., Chaurasia, S.S., Peh, G., Liu, J., Tan, D.T., Vithana, E.N. and
 Mehta, J.S. (2013) Mice with a targeted disruption of Slc4a11 model the progressive
 corneal changes of congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, **54**, 6179-6189.
- Groeger, N., Froehlich, H., Maier, H., Olbrich, A., Kostin, S., Braun, T. and Boettger, T.
 (2010) Slc4a11 prevents osmotic imbalance leading to corneal endothelial dystrophy,
 deafness, and polyuria. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 285, 14467-14474.

- Lopez, I.A., Rosenblatt, M.I., Kim, C., Galbraith, G.G., Jones, S.M., Kao, L., Newman, D.,
 Liu, W., Yeh, S., Pushkin, A., Abuladze, N. and Kurtz, I. (2009) Slc4a11 gene disruption in
 mice: Cellular targets of sensorineuronal abnormalities. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 28, 26882-26896.
- 37 Desir, J. and Abramowicz, M. (2008) Congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy with progressive sensorineural deafness (Harboyan syndrome). *Orphanet J Rare Dis*, **3**, 28.
- Puangsricharern, V., Yeetong, P., Charumalai, C., Suphapeetiporn, K. and Shotelersuk, V.
 (2014) Two novel mutations including a large deletion of the SLC4A11 gene causing
 autosomal recessive hereditary endothelial dystrophy. *Br J Ophthalmol*, **98**, 1460-1462.
- 39 Hemadevi, B., Veitia, R.A., Srinivasan, M., Arunkumar, J., Prajna, N.V., Lesaffre, C. and Sundaresan, P. (2008) Identification of mutations in the SLC4A11 gene in patients with recessive congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy. *Arch Ophthalmol*, **126**, 700-708.
- Jiao, X., Sultana, A., Garg, P., Ramamurthy, B., Vemuganti, G.K., Gangopadhyay, N.,
 Hejtmancik, J.F. and Kannabiran, C. (2007) Autosomal recessive corneal endothelial
 dystrophy (CHED2) is associated with mutations in SLC4A11. *J Med Genet*, 44, 64-68.
- Ramprasad, V.L., Ebenezer, N.D., Aung, T., Rajagopal, R., Yong, V.H., Tuft, S.J.,
 Viswanathan, D., El-Ashry, M.F., Liskova, P., Tan, D.T., Bhattacharya, S.S.,
 Kumaramanickavel, G. and Vithana, E.N. (2007) Novel SLC4A11 mutations in patients
 with recessive congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy (CHED2). Mutation in brief
 #958. Online. *Hum. Mutat.*, 28, 522-523.
- 42 Park, S.H., Jeong, H.J., Kim, M. and Kim, M.S. (2013) A novel nonsense mutation of the SLC4A11 gene in a Korean patient with autosomal recessive congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy. *Cornea*, **32**, e181-182.

- Paliwal, P., Sharma, A., Tandon, R., Sharma, N., Titiyal, J.S., Sen, S., Nag, T.C. and
 Vajpayee, R.B. (2010) Congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy mutation analysis of
 SLC4A11 and genotype-phenotype correlation in a North Indian patient cohort. *Mol Vis*,
 16, 2955-2963.
- Aldahmesh, M.A., Khan, A.O., Meyer, B.F. and Alkuraya, F.S. (2009) Mutational spectrum of SLC4A11 in autosomal recessive CHED in Saudi Arabia. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 50, 4142-4145.
- Shah, S.S., Al-Rajhi, A., Brandt, J.D., Mannis, M.J., Roos, B., Sheffield, V.C., Syed, N.A.,
 Stone, E.M. and Fingert, J.H. (2008) Mutation in the SLC4A11 gene associated with
 autosomal recessive congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy in a large Saudi family.
 Ophthalmic Genet, **29**, 41-45.
- 46 Kumar, A., Bhattacharjee, S., Prakash, D.R. and Sadanand, C.S. (2007) Genetic analysis of two Indian families affected with congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy: two novel mutations in SLC4A11. *Mol Vis*, **13**, 39-46.
- 47 Riazuddin, S.A., Zaghloul, N.A., Al-Saif, A., Davey, L., Diplas, B.H., Meadows, D.N.,
 Eghrari, A.O., Minear, M.A., Li, Y.J., Klintworth, G.K., Afshari, N., Gregory, S.G., Gottsch,
 J.D. and Katsanis, N. (2010) Missense mutations in TCF8 cause late-onset Fuchs corneal
 dystrophy and interact with FCD4 on chromosome 9p. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.*, **86**, 45-53.
- 48 Soumittra, N., Loganathan, S.K., Madhavan, D., Ramprasad, V.L., Arokiasamy, T., Sumathi, S., Karthiyayini, T., Rachapalli, S.R., Kumaramanickavel, G., Casey, J.R. and Rajagopal, R. (2014) Biosynthetic and functional defects in newly identified SLC4A11

mutants and absence of COL8A2 mutations in Fuchs endothelial corneal dystrophy. *J. Hum. Genet.*, **59**, 444-453.

- Minear, M.A., Li, Y.J., Rimmler, J., Balajonda, E., Watson, S., Allingham, R.R., Hauser,
 M.A., Klintworth, G.K., Afshari, N.A. and Gregory, S.G. (2013) Genetic screen of African
 Americans with Fuchs endothelial corneal dystrophy. *Mol Vis*, **19**, 2508-2516.
- Desir, J., Moya, G., Reish, O., Van Regemorter, N., Deconinck, H., David, K.L., Meire, F.M. and Abramowicz, M. (2007) Borate transporter SLC4A11 mutations cause both
 Harboyan syndrome and non-syndromic corneal endothelial dystrophy. *J. Med. Genet.*, 44, 322-326.
- Vilas, G.L., Loganathan, S., Quon, A., Sundaresan, P., Vithana, E.N. and Casey, J.R. (2012)
 Oligomerization of SLC4A11 protein and the severity of FECD and CHED2 corneal
 dystrophies caused by SLC4A11 mutations. *Human Mutation*, **33**, 419-428.
- 52 Glozman, R., Okiyoneda, T., Mulvihill, C.M., Rini, J.M., Barriere, H. and Lukacs, G.L. (2009) N-glycans are direct determinants of CFTR folding and stability in secretory and endocytic membrane traffic. *Journal of Cell Biology*, **184**, 847-862.
- 53 Peters, K.W., Okiyoneda, T., Balch, W.E., Braakman, I., Brodsky, J.L., Guggino, W.B., Penland, C.M., Pollard, H.B., Sorscher, E.J., Skach, W.R., Thomas, P.J., Lukacs, G.L. and Frizzell, R.A. (2011) CFTR Folding Consortium: methods available for studies of CFTR folding and correction. *Methods Mol Biol*, **742**, 335-353.
- 54 Bayer, E.A. and Wilchek, M. (1980) The use of the avidin-biotin complex as a tool in molecular biology. *Methods of biochemical analysis*, **26**, 1-45.

- Vilas, G.L., Morgan, P.E., Loganathan, S., Quon, A. and Casey, J.R. (2011) Biochemical
 Framework for SLC4A11, the Plasma Membrane Protein Defective in Corneal
 Dystrophies. *Biochemistry*, 50, 2157-2169.
- 56 Zhou, M., Diwu, Z., Panchuk-Voloshina, N. and Haugland, R.P. (1997) A stable nonfluorescent derivative of resorufin for the fluorometric determination of trace hydrogen peroxide: applications in detecting the activity of phagocyte NADPH oxidase and other oxidases. *Anal Biochem*, **253**, 162-168.
- 57 Sampson, H., Lam, H., Chen, P., Zhang, D., Mottillo, C., Mirza, M., Qasim, K., Shrier, A., Shyng, S., Hanrahan, J. and DY, T. (2013) Compounds that correct F508del-CFTR trafficking can also correct other protein trafficking diseases: an in vitro study using cell lines. *Orphanet J Rare Dis*, **8**, 11.
- 58 Birault, V., Solari, R., Hanrahan, J.W. and Thomas, D.Y. (2013) Correctors of the basic trafficking defect of the mutant F508del-CFTR that causes cystic fibrosis. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.*, **17**, 353-360.
- 59 Rubenstein, R., Egan, M. and Zeitlin, P. (1997) In vitro pharmacologic restoration of CFTR-mediated chloride transport with sodium 4-phenylbutyrate in cystic fibrosis epithelial cells containing delta F508-CFTR. *J. Clin. Invest.*, **100**, 2457-2465.
- Zhang, D., Ciciriello, F., Anjos, S., Carissimo, A., Liao, J., Carlile, G., Balghi, H., Robert, R.,
 Luini, A., Hanrahan, J. and DY, T. (2012) Ouabain Mimics Low Temperature Rescue of
 F508del-CFTR in Cystic Fibrosis Epithelial Cells. *Front Pharmacol*, **3**, 176.
- Robert, R., Carlile, G.W., Liao, J., Balghi, H., Lesimple, P., Liu, N., Kus, B., Rotin, D., Wilke,M., de Jonge, H.R., Scholte, B.J., Thomas, D.Y. and Hanrahan, J.W. (2010) Correction of

the Delta phe508 cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator trafficking defect by the bioavailable compound glafenine. *Mol Pharmacol*, **77**, 922-930.

- 62 Fischer, H., Fukuda, N., Barbry, P., Illek, B., Sartori, C. and Matthay, M.A. (2001) Partial restoration of defective chloride conductance in DeltaF508 CF mice by trimethylamine oxide. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*, **281**, L52-57.
- Wilke, M., Bot, A., Jorna, H., Scholte, B.J. and de Jonge, H.R. (2012) Rescue of murine
 F508del CFTR activity in native intestine by low temperature and proteasome inhibitors.
 PLoS One, **7**, e52070.
- Robert, R., Carlile, G.W., Pavel, C., Liu, N., Anjos, S.M., Liao, J., Luo, Y., Zhang, D.,
 Thomas, D.Y. and Hanrahan, J.W. (2008) Structural analog of sildenafil identified as a
 novel corrector of the F508del-CFTR trafficking defect. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 73, 4780489.
- 65 Carlile, G.W., Robert, R., Goepp, J., Matthes, E., Liao, J., Kus, B., Macknight, S.D., Rotin,
 D., Hanrahan, J.W. and Thomas, D.Y. (2015) Ibuprofen rescues mutant cystic fibrosis
 transmembrane conductance regulator trafficking. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis*, 14, 16-25.
- Bebok, Z., Venglarik, C.J., Panczel, Z., Jilling, T., Kirk, K.L. and Sorscher, E.J. (1998)
 Activation of DeltaF508 CFTR in an epithelial monolayer. *Am J Physiol*, **275**, C599-607.
- 67 Suresh, V., Krishnakumar, K.A. and Asha, V.V. (2015) A new fluorescent based screening system for high throughput screening of drugs targeting HBV-core and HBsAg interaction. *Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy*, **70**, 305-316.
- 68 Gedye, C., Hussain, A., Paterson, J., Smrke, A., Saini, H., Sirskyj, D., Pereira, K., Lobo, N., Stewart, J., Go, C., Ho, J., Medrano, M., Hyatt, E., Yuan, J., Lauriault, S., Kondratyev, M.,

van den Beucken, T., Jewett, M., Dirks, P., Guidos, C., Danska, J., Wang, J., Wouters, B., Neel, B., Rottapel, R. and Ailles, L. (2014) Cell Surface Profiling Using High-Throughput Flow Cytometry: A Platform for Biomarker Discovery and Analysis of Cellular Heterogeneity. *PLoS ONE*, **9**, e105602.

- Botelho, H., Uliyakina, I., Awatade, N., Proença, M., Tischer, C., Sirianant, L.,
 Kunzelmann, K., Pepperkok, R. and Amaral, M. (2015) Protein traffic disorders: an
 effective high-throughput fluorescence microscopy pipeline for drug discovery. *Scientific Reports*, 5, 9038.
- Lan, T., Liu, Q., Li, C., Wu, G. and Lambert, N. (2012) Sensitive and high resolution
 localization and tracking of membrane proteins in live cells with BRET. *Traffic*, **13**, 1450-1456.
- Stricker, B.H.C., de Groot, R.R.M. and Wilson, J.H.P. (1991) Glafenine-associated
 anaphylaxis as a cause of hospital admission in The Netherlands. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*,
 40, 367-371.
- Vermerie, N., Kusielewicz, D., Tod, M., Nicolas, P., Perret, G., Fauvelle, F. and Petitjean,
 O. (1992) Pharmacokinetics of glafenine and glafenic acid in patients with cirrhosis,
 compared to healthy volunteers. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol*, 6, 197-203.
- 73 Brune, K. and Patrignani, P. (2015) New insights into the use of currently available nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. *J Pain Res*, **8**, 105-118.
- Silberstein, S.D. and Stirpe, J.C. (2014) COX inhibitors for the treatment of migraine.
 Expert Opin Pharmacother, **15**, 1863-1874.

- 75 Smith, W.L., DeWitt, D.L. and Garavito, R.M. (2000) Cyclooxygenases: structural, cellular, and molecular biology. *Annu Rev Biochem*, **69**, 145-182.
- Schöber, W., Tran, Q.B., Muringaseril, M., Wiskirchen, J., Kehlbach, R., Rodegerdts, E., Wiesinger, B., Claussen, C.D. and Duda, S.H. (2003) Impact of glafenine hydrochloride on human endothelial cells and human vascular smooth muscle cells: a substance reducing proliferation, migration and extracellular matrix synthesis. *Cell Biol Int*, **27**, 987-996.

Chapter 4: Summary and Future Directions

4.1 Summary

The first objective of this thesis was to develop a high throughput screening assay for the detection of SLC4A11 at the plasma membrane. We developed our assay using another designed for the detection of mutant CFTR (1). We introduced some changes for our uses. First, we developed stable cell lines expressing HA epitope tagged SLC4A11. Second, we modified the assay to work in a 96 well format. Third, we coated the 96 well plates with poly-L-lysine to combat cell loss when performing the assay. Finally, we found that culturing our cells with trypsin could adversely affect our results as there are proteolytic sites on the extracellular loop containing the HA tag. We validated the assay using cell surface biotinylation and found that both techniques produced similar results.

The second objective of this thesis was to perform a small scale screen of compounds shown to have rescuing effects on other mutant membrane proteins using our assay. We found that a variety of compounds had a small effect on certain mutants of SLC4A11 but these were not statistically significant. However, we found that the NSAIDs which have been shown to rescue mutant CFTR (2, 3), significantly increased the amount of mutant SLC4A11 at the plasma membrane. In particular, glafenine had a significant effect on all three mutants screened. Interestingly, glafenine did not seem to have a significant effect on the trafficking of wild type SLC4A11. Furthermore, functional analysis of rescued mutant SLC4A11 showed that the rescued SLC4A11 displayed a similar level of water flux compared to wild type.

Overall, these results hold great promise in developing a pharmacological treatment for the corneal endothelial dystrophies associated with mutations of SLC4A11. Glafenine has been

used traditionally as an analgesic but has fallen out of use because it has been implicated in renal failure and high incidences of anaphylaxis. If glafenine is administered topically to a relatively superficial area of the body such as the cornea, glafenine could avoid the primary circulatory system and thereby avoid many of its adverse effects.

4.2 Future Directions

The rescuing effect of NSAIDs on certain mutants of SLC4A11 has been established *in vitro*. The next step would be to examine the effects of NSAIDs on mutant SLC4A11 in an animal model. A mouse model with a CHED mutation has been developed in our lab. Although mouse and human SLC4A11 differ slightly in structure, the mouse model displays the CHED phenotype in the same manner that has been reported for humans. Currently, there are 57 known point mutations associated with CHED, HS and FECD. In addition to *in vivo* study, further *in vitro* study of NSAIDs on other mutations of SLC4A11 is needed to identify which mutants can be rescued by NSAIDs.

In this thesis, we show that three NSAIDs are able to correct the trafficking defect of mutant SLC4A11. Other studies have shown that NSAIDs are capable of rescuing other mutant membrane proteins to the plasma membrane (2, 4) such as CFTR. These proteins are not closely related other than the fact that they are membrane proteins. A number of diseases are caused by trafficking defects in mutant membrane proteins causing ER-retention. Perhaps these NSAIDs may have a similar rescuing effect on a number of mutant membrane proteins. Screening of these mutant membrane proteins with NSAIDs is needed. NSAIDs work through inhibition of one or both COX enzymes, however if there is a connection between COX

inhibition and the rescue of mutant membrane proteins, it is unclear. Further study on the mechanism by which these NSAIDs are rescuing mutant membrane proteins is needed.

The Amplex Red Assay is a powerful tool for quantifying protein at the plasma membrane. It can be further improved by scaling the experiment to even smaller replicates than 96 wells. A major limitation of the assay is the reproducibility of the technician performing the experiments. This limitation could be overcome by automation of the assay. This would also allow the technician to perform even more replicates by freeing up their time by not performing the assay manually. Finally, there are large libraries of compounds available for screening and we have only examined a select few in this study. Further screening of compounds and mutants is needed.

4.3 References

- Peters, K.W., Okiyoneda, T., Balch, W.E., Braakman, I., Brodsky, J.L., Guggino, W.B., Penland,
 C.M., Pollard, H.B., Sorscher, E.J., Skach, W.R., Thomas, P.J., Lukacs, G.L. and Frizzell, R.A. (2011)
 CFTR Folding Consortium: methods available for studies of CFTR folding and correction. *Methods Mol Biol*, **742**, 335-353.
- 2 Robert, R., Carlile, G.W., Liao, J., Balghi, H., Lesimple, P., Liu, N., Kus, B., Rotin, D., Wilke, M., de Jonge, H.R., Scholte, B.J., Thomas, D.Y. and Hanrahan, J.W. (2010) Correction of the Delta phe508 cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator trafficking defect by the bioavailable compound glafenine. *Mol Pharmacol*, **77**, 922-930.
- Carlile, G.W., Robert, R., Goepp, J., Matthes, E., Liao, J., Kus, B., Macknight, S.D., Rotin, D.,
 Hanrahan, J.W. and Thomas, D.Y. (2015) Ibuprofen rescues mutant cystic fibrosis
 transmembrane conductance regulator trafficking. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis*, 14, 16-25.
- Sampson, H., Lam, H., Chen, P., Zhang, D., Mottillo, C., Mirza, M., Qasim, K., Shrier, A., Shyng, S.,
 Hanrahan, J. and DY, T. (2013) Compounds that correct F508del-CFTR trafficking can also correct
 other protein trafficking diseases: an in vitro study using cell lines. *Orphanet J Rare Dis*, 8, 11.

References

Aldahmesh, M.A., Khan, A.O., Meyer, B.F. and Alkuraya, F.S. (2009) Mutational spectrum of SLC4A11 in autosomal recessive CHED in Saudi Arabia. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 50, 4142-4145.

Aldave, A.J., Yellore, V.S., Bourla, N., Momi, R.S., Khan, M.A., Salem, A.K., Rayner, S.A., Glasgow, B.J. and Kurtz, I. (2007) Autosomal Recessive CHED Associated With Novel Compound Heterozygous Mutations in SLC4A11. Cornea, 26, 896-900.

Alka, K. and Casey, J.R. (2014) Bicarbonate transport in health and disease. IUBMB Life, 66, 596-615.

Alper, S.L. (2006) Molecular physiology of SLC4 anion exchangers. Exp Physiol, 91, 153-161.

Amlal, H., Burnham, C.E. and Soleimani, M. (1999) Characterization of Na+/HCO3- cotransporter isoform NBC-3. Am J Physiol, 276, F903-913.

Bayer, E.A. and Wilchek, M. (1980) The use of the avidin-biotin complex as a tool in molecular biology. Methods of biochemical analysis, 26, 1-45.

Bebok, Z., Venglarik, C.J., Panczel, Z., Jilling, T., Kirk, K.L. and Sorscher, E.J. (1998) Activation of DeltaF508 CFTR in an epithelial monolayer. Am J Physiol, 275, C599-607.

Birault, V., Solari, R., Hanrahan, J.W. and Thomas, D.Y. (2013) Correctors of the basic trafficking defect of the mutant F508del-CFTR that causes cystic fibrosis. Current Opinion in Chemcial Biology, 17, 353-360.

Biswas, S., Munier, F.L., Yardley, J., Hart-Holden, N., Perveen, R., Cousin, P., Sutphin, J.E., Noble, B., Batterbury, M., Kielty, C., Hackett, A., Bonshek, R., Ridgway, A., McLeod, D., Sheffield, V.C., Stone, E.M., Schorderet, D.F. and Black, G.C. (2001) Missense mutations in COL8A2, the gene encoding the alpha2 chain of type VIII collagen, cause two forms of corneal endothelial dystrophy. Hum. Mol. Genet., 10, 2415-2423.

Botelho, H., Uliyakina, I., Awatade, N., Proença, M., Tischer, C., Sirianant, L., Kunzelmann, K., Pepperkok, R. and Amaral, M. (2015) Protein traffic disorders: an effective high-throughput fluorescence microscopy pipeline for drug discovery. Scientific Reports, 5, 9038.

Brune, K. and Patrignani, P. (2015) New insights into the use of currently available non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Journal of Pain Research, 8, 105-118.

Carlile, G.W., Robert, R., Goepp, J., Matthes, E., Liao, J., Kus, B., Macknight, S.D., Rotin, D., Hanrahan, J.W. and Thomas, D.Y. (2015) Ibuprofen rescues mutant cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator trafficking. Journal of Cystic Fibrosis, 14, 16-25.

Carter, S., Kelly, S., Caples, E., Grogan, B., Doyle, J., Gallagher, C.G. and McKone, E.F. (2015) Ivacaftor as salvage therapy in a patient with cystic fibrosis genotype F508del/R117H/IVS8-5T. J Cyst Fibros, 14, e4-5.

Chambrey, R., Kurth, I., Peti-Peterdi, J., Houillier, P., Purkerson, J.M., Leviel, F., Hentschke, M., Zdebik, A.A., Schwartz, G.J., Hubner, C.A. and Eladari, D. (2013) Renal intercalated cells are rather energized by a proton than a sodium pump. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 110, 7928-7933. Chen, Y., Choong, L.-Y., Lin, Q., Philp, R., Wong, C.-H., Ang, B.-K., Tan, Y.-L., Loh, M.-C.-S., Hew, C.-L., Shah, N., Druker, B.J., Chong, P.-K. and Lim, Y.-P. (2007) Differential Expression of Novel Tyrosine Kinase Substrates during Breast Cancer Development. Molecular & Cellular Proteomics, 6, 2072-2087.

Cheng, S.H., Gregory, R.J., Marshall, J., Paul, S., Souza, D.W., White, G.A., O'Riordan, C.R. and Smith, A.E. (1990) Defective intracellular transport and processing of CFTR is the molecular basis of most cystic fibrosis. Cell, 63, 827-834.

Desir, J. and Abramowicz, M. (2008) Congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy with progressive sensorineural deafness (Harboyan syndrome). Orphanet J Rare Dis, 3, 28.

Desir, J., Moya, G., Reish, O., Van Regemorter, N., Deconinck, H., David, K.L., Meire, F.M. and Abramowicz, M. (2007) Borate transporter SLC4A11 mutations cause both Harboyan syndrome and non-syndromic corneal endothelial dystrophy. J. Med. Genet., 44, 322-326.

Elhalis, H., Azizi, B. and Jurkunas, U.V. (2010) Fuchs Endothelial Corneal Dystrophy. The ocular surface, 8, 173-184.

Fischer, H., Fukuda, N., Barbry, P., Illek, B., Sartori, C. and Matthay, M.A. (2001) Partial restoration of defective chloride conductance in DeltaF508 CF mice by trimethylamine oxide. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 281, L52-57.

Fuchs, E. (1910) Dystrophia epithelialis corneae. AlbrechtVan Graefes Arch. Klin. Exp. Ophthalmol, 76, 478-508.

Gedye, C., Hussain, A., Paterson, J., Smrke, A., Saini, H., Sirskyj, D., Pereira, K., Lobo, N., Stewart, J., Go, C., Ho, J., Medrano, M., Hyatt, E., Yuan, J., Lauriault, S., Kondratyev, M., van den Beucken, T., Jewett, M., Dirks, P., Guidos, C., Danska, J., Wang, J., Wouters, B., Neel, B., Rottapel, R. and Ailles, L. (2014) Cell Surface Profiling Using High-Throughput Flow Cytometry: A Platform for Biomarker Discovery and Analysis of Cellular Heterogeneity. PLoS ONE, 9, e105602.

Glozman, R., Okiyoneda, T., Mulvihill, C.M., Rini, J.M., Barriere, H. and Lukacs, G.L. (2009) Nglycans are direct determinants of CFTR folding and stability in secretory and endocytic membrane traffic. Journal of Cell Biology, 184, 847-862.

Gorbatenko, A., Olesen, C.W., Boedtkjer, E. and Pedersen, S.F. (2014) Regulation and roles of bicarbonate transporters in cancer. Front Physiol, 5, 130.

Gregersen, N., Bross, P., Vang, S. and Christensen, J.H. (2006) Protein misfolding and human disease. Annual review of genomics and human genetics, 7, 103-124.

Groeger, N., Froehlich, H., Maier, H., Olbrich, A., Kostin, S., Braun, T. and Boettger, T. (2010) Slc4a11 prevents osmotic imbalance leading to corneal endothelial dystrophy, deafness, and polyuria. J. Biol. Chem., 285, 14467-14474.

Han, S.B., Ang, H.P., Poh, R., Chaurasia, S.S., Peh, G., Liu, J., Tan, D.T., Vithana, E.N. and Mehta, J.S. (2013) Mice with a targeted disruption of Slc4a11 model the progressive corneal changes of congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 54, 6179-6189.

Harboyan, G., Mamo, J., Kaloustian, V.d. and Karam, F. (1971) Congenital corneal dystrophy. Progressive sensorineural deafness in a family. Arch Ophthalmol, 85, 27-32. Hemadevi, B., Veitia, R.A., Srinivasan, M., Arunkumar, J., Prajna, N.V., Lesaffre, C. and Sundaresan, P. (2008) Identification of mutations in the SLC4A11 gene in patients with recessive congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy. Arch Ophthalmol, 126, 700-708.

Igarashi, T., Inatomi, J., Sekine, T., Cha, S.H., Kanai, Y., Kunimi, M., Tsukamoto, K., Satoh, H., Shimadzu, M., Tozawa, F., Mori, T., Shiobara, M., Seki, G. and Endou, H. (1999) Mutations in SLC4A4 cause permanent isolated proximal renal tubular acidosis with ocular abnormalities. Nat. Genet., 23, 264-266.

Igo, R.P., Jr., Kopplin, L.J., Joseph, P., Truitt, B., Fondran, J., Bardenstein, D., Aldave, A.J., Croasdale, C.R., Price, M.O., Rosenwasser, M., Lass, J.H. and Iyengar, S.K. (2012) Differing roles for TCF4 and COL8A2 in central corneal thickness and fuchs endothelial corneal dystrophy. PLoS One, 7, e46742.

Iliff, B.W., Riazuddin, S.A. and Gottsch, J.D. (2012) The genetics of Fuchs' corneal dystrophy. Expert Rev Ophthalmol, 7, 363-375.

Jacobs, S., Ruusuvuori, E., Sipila, S.T., Haapanen, A., Damkier, H.H., Kurth, I., Hentschke, M., Schweizer, M., Rudhard, Y., Laatikainen, L.M., Tyynela, J., Praetorius, J., Voipio, J. and Hubner, C.A. (2008) Mice with targeted Slc4a10 gene disruption have small brain ventricles and show reduced neuronal excitability. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 105, 311-316.

Jalimarada, S.S., Ogando, D.G., Vithana, E.N. and Bonanno, J.A. (2013) Ion Transport Function of SLC4A11 in Corneal Endothelium. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 54, 4330-4340.

Jiao, X., Sultana, A., Garg, P., Ramamurthy, B., Vemuganti, G.K., Gangopadhyay, N., Hejtmancik, J.F. and Kannabiran, C. (2007) Autosomal recessive corneal endothelial dystrophy (CHED2) is associated with mutations in SLC4A11. J Med Genet, 44, 64-68.

Jurkunas, U. and Azar, D.T. (2006) Potential complications of ocular surgery in patients with coexistent keratoconus and Fuchs' endothelial dystrophy. Ophthalmology, 113, 2187-2197.

Kao, L., Azimov, R., Abuladze, N., Newman, D. and Kurtz, I. (2015) Human SLC4A11-C functions as a DIDS-stimulatable H⁺(OH⁻) permeation pathway: partial correction of R109H mutant transport. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 308, 176-188.

Kaufman, P. and Alm, A. (2003) Adlers' Physiology of the Eye. Mosby, St. Louis, Missouri.

Khandoudi, N., Albadine, J., Robert, P., Krief, S., Berrebi-Bertrand, I., Martin, X., Bevensee, M.O., Boron, W.F. and Bril, A. (2001) Inhibition of the cardiac electrogenic sodium bicarbonate cotransporter reduces ischemic injury. Cardiovasc Res, 52, 387-396.

Klintworth, G.K. (2009) Corneal dystrophies. Orphanet. J. Rare Dis., 4, 7.

Ko, S.B., Luo, X., Hager, H., Rojek, A., Choi, J.Y., Licht, C., Suzuki, M., Muallem, S., Nielsen, S. and Ishibashi, K. (2002) AE4 is a DIDS-sensitive Cl-/HCO3- exchanger in the basolateral membrane of the renal CCD and the SMG duct. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 283, C1206-1218.

Kotka, M., Lieden, A., Pettersson, S., Trinchieri, V., Masci, A. and D'Amato, M. (2008) Solute carriers (SLC) in inflammatory bowel disease: a potential target of probiotics? J Clin Gastroenterol, 42 Suppl 3 Pt 1, S133-135.

Krachmer, J.H., Purcell, J.J., Jr, Young, C.W. and Bucher, K.D. (1978) Corneal endothelial dystrophy: A study of 64 families. Archives of Ophthalmology, 96, 2036-2039.

Kumar, A., Bhattacharjee, S., Prakash, D.R. and Sadanand, C.S. (2007) Genetic analysis of two Indian families affected with congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy: two novel mutations in SLC4A11. Mol Vis, 13, 39-46.

Kurtz, I. (2014) NBCe1 as a model carrier for understanding the structure-function properties of Na(+) -coupled SLC4 transporters in health and disease. Pflugers Arch, 466, 1501-1516.

Laemmli, U.K. (1970) Cleavage of structural proteins during assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature, 227, 680-685.

Lan, T., Liu, Q., Li, C., Wu, G. and Lambert, N. (2012) Sensitive and high resolution localization and tracking of membrane proteins in live cells with BRET. Traffic, 13, 1450-1456.

Lipman, R.M., Rubenstein, J.B. and Torczynski, E. (1990) Keratoconus and Fuchs' corneal endothelial dystrophy in a patient and her family. Arch Ophthalmol, 108, 993-994.

Liu, J., Seet, L.F., Koh, L.W., Venkatraman, A., Venkataraman, D., Mohan, R.R., Praetorius, J., Bonanno, J.A., Aung, T. and Vithana, E.N. (2012) Depletion of SLC4A11 causes cell death by apoptosis in an immortalized human corneal endothelial cell line. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 53, 3270-3279.

Loganathan, S.K. and Casey, J.R. (2014) Corneal Dystrophy-causing SLC4A11 Mutants: Suitability for Folding-Correction Therapy. Human Mutation, 35, 1082-1091.

Lopez, I.A., Rosenblatt, M.I., Kim, C., Galbraith, G.G., Jones, S.M., Kao, L., Newman, D., Liu, W., Yeh, S., Pushkin, A., Abuladze, N. and Kurtz, I. (2009) Slc4a11 gene disruption in mice: Cellular targets of sensorineuronal abnormalities. J. Biol. Chem., 28, 26882-26896.

Louttit, M.D., Kopplin, L.J., Igo, R.P., Fondran, J.R., Tagliaferri, A., Bardenstein, D., Aldave, A.J., Croasdale, C.R., Price, M., Rosenwasser, G.O., Lass, J.H., Iyengar, S.K. and Group, F.G.M.-C.S. (2012) A Multi-Center Study to Map Genes for Fuchs' Endothelial Corneal Dystrophy: Baseline Characteristics and Heritability. Cornea, 31, 26-35.

Lukacs GL, C.X., Bear C, Kartner N, Mohamed A, Riordan JR, Grinstein S. (1993) The delta F508 mutation decreases the stability of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator in the plasma membrane. Determination of functional half-lives on transfected cells. J. Biol. Chem., 268, 21592-21598.

McIlwain, D.R., Berger, T. and Mak, T.W. (2013) Caspase functions in cell death and disease. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 5, a008656.

Mehta, J.S., Vithana, E.N., Tan, D.T., Yong, V.H., Yam, G.H., Law, R.W., Chong, W.G., Pang, C.P. and Aung, T. (2008) Analysis of the posterior polymorphous corneal dystrophy 3 gene, TCF8, in late-onset Fuchs endothelial corneal dystrophy. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci., 49, 184-188.

Minear, M.A., Li, Y.J., Rimmler, J., Balajonda, E., Watson, S., Allingham, R.R., Hauser, M.A., Klintworth, G.K., Afshari, N.A. and Gregory, S.G. (2013) Genetic screen of African Americans with Fuchs endothelial corneal dystrophy. Mol Vis, 19, 2508-2516. Norez, C., Antigny, F., Noel, S., Vandebrouck, C. and Becq, F. (2009) A CF respiratory epithelial cell chronically treated by miglustat acquires a non-CF like phenotype. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 41, 217-225.

Ogando, D.G., Jalimarada, S.S., Zhang, W., Vithana, E.N. and Bonanno, J.A. (2013) SLC4A11 is an EIPA-sensitive Na(+) permeable pHi regulator. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 305, C716-727.

Olsen, T. (1984) Is there an association between Fuchs' endothelial dystrophy and cardiovascular disease? Graefe's archive for clinical and experimental ophthalmology = Albrecht von Graefes Archiv fur klinische und experimentelle Ophthalmologie, 221, 239-240.

Paliwal, P., Sharma, A., Tandon, R., Sharma, N., Titiyal, J.S., Sen, S., Nag, T.C. and Vajpayee, R.B. (2010) Congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy - mutation analysis of SLC4A11 and genotype-phenotype correlation in a North Indian patient cohort. Mol Vis, 16, 2955-2963.

Park, M., Li, Q., Shcheynikov, N., Zeng, W. and Muallem, S. (2004) NaBC1 is a ubiquitous electrogenic Na+ -coupled borate transporter essential for cellular boron homeostasis and cell growth and proliferation. Mol. Cell, 16, 331-341.

Park, S.H., Jeong, H.J., Kim, M. and Kim, M.S. (2013) A novel nonsense mutation of the SLC4A11 gene in a Korean patient with autosomal recessive congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy. Cornea, 32, e181-182.

Parker, M.D., Boron, W.F. and Tanner, M.J. (2002) Characterization of human "AE4" as an electroneutral sodium bicarbonate cotransporter. FASEB J, 16, A796.

Parker, M.D., Ourmozdi, E.P. and Tanner, M.J. (2001) Human BTR1, a New Bicarbonate Transporter Superfamily Member and Human AE4 from Kidney. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 282, 1103-1109.

Pearce, W.G., Tripathi, R.C. and Morgan, G. (1969) Congenital endothelial corneal dystrophy. Clinical, pathological, and genetic study. Br. J. Ophthalmol, 53, 577-591.

Peters, K.W., Okiyoneda, T., Balch, W.E., Braakman, I., Brodsky, J.L., Guggino, W.B., Penland, C.M., Pollard, H.B., Sorscher, E.J., Skach, W.R., Thomas, P.J., Lukacs, G.L. and Frizzell, R.A. (2011) CFTR Folding Consortium: methods available for studies of CFTR folding and correction. Methods Mol Biol, 742, 335-353.

Puangsricharern, V., Yeetong, P., Charumalai, C., Suphapeetiporn, K. and Shotelersuk, V. (2014) Two novel mutations including a large deletion of the SLC4A11 gene causing autosomal recessive hereditary endothelial dystrophy. Br J Ophthalmol, 98, 1460-1462.

Pushkin, A. and Kurtz, I. (2006) SLC4 base (HCO3-, CO32-) transporters: classification, function, structure, genetic diseases, and knockout models. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol, 290, F580-599. Rafferty, S., Alcolado, N., Norez, C., Chappe, F., Pelzer, S., Becg, F. and Chappe, V. (2009) Rescue

of functional F508del cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator by vasoactive intestinal peptide in the human nasal epithelial cell line JME/CF15. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther., 331, 2-13.

Ramprasad, V.L., Ebenezer, N.D., Aung, T., Rajagopal, R., Yong, V.H., Tuft, S.J., Viswanathan, D., El-Ashry, M.F., Liskova, P., Tan, D.T., Bhattacharya, S.S., Kumaramanickavel, G. and Vithana, E.N.
(2007) Novel SLC4A11 mutations in patients with recessive congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy (CHED2). Mutation in brief #958. Online. Hum. Mutat., 28, 522-523.

Rao, G.P., Kaye, S.B. and Agius-Fernandez, A. (1998) Central corneal endothelial guttae and agerelated macular degeneration: is there an association? Indian journal of ophthalmology, 46, 145-147.

Riazuddin, S.A., Parker, D.S., McGlumphy, E.J., Oh, E.C., Iliff, B.W., Schmedt, T., Jurkunas, U., Schleif, R., Katsanis, N. and Gottsch, J.D. (2012) Mutations in LOXHD1, a recessive-deafness locus, cause dominant late-onset Fuchs corneal dystrophy. Am. J. Hum. Genet., 90, 533-539.

Riazuddin, S.A., Vithana, E.N., Seet, L.F., Liu, Y., Al-Saif, A., Koh, L.W., Heng, Y.M., Aung, T., Meadows, D.N., Eghrari, A.O., Gottsch, J.D. and Katsanis, N. (2010) Missense mutations in the sodium borate co-transporter SLC4A11 cause late onset Fuchs corneal dystrophy. Hum. Mutat., 31, 1261-1268.

Riazuddin, S.A., Zaghloul, N.A., Al-Saif, A., Davey, L., Diplas, B.H., Meadows, D.N., Eghrari, A.O., Minear, M.A., Li, Y.J., Klintworth, G.K., Afshari, N., Gregory, S.G., Gottsch, J.D. and Katsanis, N. (2010) Missense mutations in TCF8 cause late-onset Fuchs corneal dystrophy and interact with FCD4 on chromosome 9p. Am. J. Hum. Genet., 86, 45-53.

Robert, R., Carlile, G.W., Liao, J., Balghi, H., Lesimple, P., Liu, N., Kus, B., Rotin, D., Wilke, M., de Jonge, H.R., Scholte, B.J., Thomas, D.Y. and Hanrahan, J.W. (2010) Correction of the Delta phe508 cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator trafficking defect by the bioavailable compound glafenine. Mol Pharmacol, 77, 922-930. Robert, R., Carlile, G.W., Pavel, C., Liu, N., Anjos, S.M., Liao, J., Luo, Y., Zhang, D., Thomas, D.Y. and Hanrahan, J.W. (2008) Structural analog of sildenafil identified as a novel corrector of the F508del-CFTR trafficking defect. Molecular Pharmacology, 73, 4780489.

Romero, M.F., Chen, A.-P., Parker, M.D. and Boron, W.F. (2013) The SLC4 family of bicarbonate transporters. Molecular Aspects of Medicine, 34, 159-182.

Rommens, J.M. *Cystic Fibrosis Mutation Database*. 2011. <u>http://www.genet.sickkids.on.ca/cftr</u> Rowe, S.M. and Verkman, A.S. (2013) Cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator correctors and potentiators. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine, 3.

Roy, S., Praneetha, D.C. and Vendra, V.P. (2015) Mutations in the Corneal Endothelial Dystrophy-Associated Gene SLC4A11 Render the Cells More Vulnerable to Oxidative Insults. Cornea, 34, 668-674.

Rubenstein, R., Egan, M. and Zeitlin, P. (1997) In vitro pharmacologic restoration of CFTRmediated chloride transport with sodium 4-phenylbutyrate in cystic fibrosis epithelial cells containing delta F508-CFTR. J. Clin. Invest., 100, 2457-2465.

Ruetz, S., Lindsey, A.E., Ward, C.L. and Kopito, R.R. (1993) Functional activation of plasma membrane anion exchangers occurs in a pre-Golgi compartment. J. Cell Biol., 121, 37-48.

Sampson, H., Lam, H., Chen, P., Zhang, D., Mottillo, C., Mirza, M., Qasim, K., Shrier, A., Shyng, S., Hanrahan, J. and DY, T. (2013) Compounds that correct F508del-CFTR trafficking can also correct other protein trafficking diseases: an in vitro study using cell lines. Orphanet J Rare Dis, 8, 11. Sander, T., Toliat, M.R., Heils, A., Leschik, G., Becker, C., Ruschendorf, F., Rohde, K., Mundlos, S. and Nurnberg, P. (2002) Association of the 867Asp variant of the human anion exchanger 3 gene with common subtypes of idiopathic generalized epilepsy. Epilepsy Res, 51, 249-255.

Sanders, C.R. and Myers, J.K. (2004) Disease-related misassembly of membrane proteins. Annu Rev Biophys Biomol Struct, 33, 25-51.

Schmedt, T., Silva, M.M., Ziaei, A. and Jurkunas, U. (2012) Molecular bases of corneal endothelial dystrophies. Experimental Eye Research, 95, 24-34.

Schöber, W., Tran, Q.B., Muringaseril, M., Wiskirchen, J., Kehlbach, R., Rodegerdts, E., Wiesinger, B., Claussen, C.D. and Duda, S.H. (2003) Impact of glafenine hydrochloride on human endothelial cells and human vascular smooth muscle cells: a substance reducing proliferation, migration and extracellular matrix synthesis. Cell Biology International, 27, 987-996.

Schroder, M. and Kaufman, R.J. (2005) The mammalian unfolded protein response. Annu Rev Biochem, 74, 739-789.

Sebat, J., Lakshmi, B., Malhotra, D., Troge, J., Lese-Martin, C., Walsh, T., Yamrom, B., Yoon, S., Krasnitz, A., Kendall, J., Leotta, A., Pai, D., Zhang, R., Lee, Y.-H., Hicks, J., Spence, S.J., Lee, A.T., Puura, K., Lehtimäki, T., Ledbetter, D., Gregersen, P.K., Bregman, J., Sutcliffe, J.S., Jobanputra, V., Chung, W., Warburton, D., King, M.-C., Skuse, D., Geschwind, D.H., Gilliam, T.C., Ye, K. and Wigler, M. (2007) Strong Association of De Novo Copy Number Mutations with Autism. Science, 316, 445-449. Shah, S.S., Al-Rajhi, A., Brandt, J.D., Mannis, M.J., Roos, B., Sheffield, V.C., Syed, N.A., Stone, E.M. and Fingert, J.H. (2008) Mutation in the SLC4A11 gene associated with autosomal recessive congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy in a large Saudi family. Ophthalmic Genet, 29, 41-45.

Silberstein, S.D. and Stirpe, J.C. (2014) COX inhibitors for the treatment of migraine. Expert Opinion on Pharmacotherapy, 15, 1863-1874.

Smith, W.L., DeWitt, D.L. and Garavito, R.M. (2000) Cyclooxygenases: structural, cellular, and molecular biology. Annu Rev Biochem, 69, 145-182.

Soumittra, N., Loganathan, S.K., Madhavan, D., Ramprasad, V.L., Arokiasamy, T., Sumathi, S., Karthiyayini, T., Rachapalli, S.R., Kumaramanickavel, G., Casey, J.R. and Rajagopal, R. (2014) Biosynthetic and functional defects in newly identified SLC4A11 mutants and absence of COL8A2 mutations in Fuchs endothelial corneal dystrophy. J. Hum. Genet., 59, 444-453.

Stehouwer, M., Bijlsma, W.R. and Van der Lelij, A. (2011) Hearing disability in patients with Fuchs' endothelial corneal dystrophy: unrecognized co-pathology? Clin. Ophthalmol., 5, 1297-1301.

Stenson, P., Mort, M., Ball, E., Shaw, K., Phillips, A. and Cooper, D. (2014) The Human Gene Mutation Database: building a comprehensive mutation repository for clinical and molecular genetics, diagnostic testing and personalized genomic medicine. Human genetics, 133, 1-9.

Stoltz, D.A., Meyerholz, D.K. and Welsh, M.J. (2015) Origins of cystic fibrosis lung disease. N Engl J Med, 372, 351-362.

Stricker, B.H.C., de Groot, R.R.M. and Wilson, J.H.P. (1991) Glafenine-associated anaphylaxis as a cause of hospital admission in The Netherlands. European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology, 40, 367-371.

Sultana, A., Garg, P., Ramamurthy, B., Vemuganti, G.K. and Kannabiran, C. (2007) Mutational spectrum of the SLC4A11 gene in autosomal recessive congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy. Mol Vis, 13, 1327-1332.

Suresh, V., Krishnakumar, K.A. and Asha, V.V. (2015) A new fluorescent based screening system for high throughput screening of drugs targeting HBV-core and HBsAg interaction. Biomedicine and Pharmacotherapy, 70, 305-316.

Thurtell, M.J. (2014) Diagnostic approach to abnormal spontaneous eye movements. Continuum: Lifelong Learning in Neurology, 20, 993-1007.

Tildy, B.E. and Rogers, D.F. (2015) Therapeutic Options for Hydrating Airway Mucus in Cystic Fibrosis. Pharmacology, 95, 117-132.

Tsuganezawa, H., Kobayashi, K., Iyori, M., Araki, T., Koizumi, A., Watanabe, S.I., Kaneko, A., Fukao, T., Monkawa, T., Yoshida, T., Kim, D.K., Kanai, Y., Endou, H., Hayashi, M. and Saruta, T. (2001) A new member of the HCO3- transporter superfamily is an apical anion exchanger of beta-intercalated cells in the kidney. J Biol Chem, 276, 8180-8189.

Vermerie, N., Kusielewicz, D., Tod, M., Nicolas, P., Perret, G., Fauvelle, F. and Petitjean, O. (1992) Pharmacokinetics of glafenine and glafenic acid in patients with cirrhosis, compared to healthy volunteers. Fundamental & Clincial Pharmacology, 6, 197-203.

Vilas, G.L., Loganathan, S., Quon, A., Sundaresan, P., Vithana, E.N. and Casey, J.R. (2012) Oligomerization of SLC4A11 protein and the severity of FECD and CHED2 corneal dystrophies caused by SLC4A11 mutations. Human Mutation, 33, 419-428.

Vilas, G.L., Loganathan, S.K., Liu, J., Riau, A.K., Young, J.D., Mehta, J.S., Vithana, E.N. and Casey, J.R. (2013) Transmembrane water-flux through SLC4A11: a route defective in genetic corneal diseases. Hum Mol Genet, 22, 4579-4590.

Vilas, G.L., Morgan, P.E., Loganathan, S., Quon, A. and Casey, J.R. (2011) Biochemical Framework for SLC4A11, the Plasma Membrane Protein Defective in Corneal Dystrophies. Biochemistry, 50, 2157-2169.

Vithana, E.N., Morgan, P., Sundaresan, P., Ebenezer, N.D., Tan, D.T., Mohamed, M.D., Anand, S., Khine, K.O., Venkataraman, D., Yong, V.H., Salto-Tellez, M., Venkatraman, A., Guo, K., Hemadevi, B., Srinivasan, M., Prajna, V., Khine, M., Casey, J.R., Inglehearn, C.F. and Aung, T. (2006) Mutations in sodium-borate cotransporter SLC4A11 cause recessive congenital hereditary endothelial dystrophy (CHED2). Nature Genetics, 38, 755-757.

Vithana, E.N., Morgan, P.E., Ramprasad, V., Tan, D.T., Yong, V.H., Venkataraman, D., Venkatraman, A., Yam, G.H., Nagasamy, S., Law, R.W., Rajagopal, R., Pang, C.P., Kumaramanickevel, G., Casey, J.R. and Aung, T. (2008) SLC4A11 Mutations in Fuchs Endothelial Corneal Dystrophy (FECD). Hum. Mol. Genet., 17, 656-666.

Waring, G.O., 3rd, Rodrigues, M.M. and Laibson, P.R. (1978) Corneal dystrophies. II. Endothelial dystrophies. Survey of ophthalmology, 23, 147-168.

Warwick, G. and Elston, C. (2011) Improving outcomes in patients with cystic fibrosis. The Practitioner, 255, 29-32, 23.

Weiss, J.S., Møller, H.U., Aldave, A.J., Seitz, B., Bredrup, C., Kivelä, T., Munier, F.L., Rapuano, C.J., Nischal, K.K., Kim, E.K., Sutphin, J., Busin, M., Labbé, A., Kenyon, K.R., Kinoshita, S. and Lisch, W. (2015) IC3D classification of corneal dystrophies--edition 2. Cornea, 34, 117-159.

Wilke, M., Bot, A., Jorna, H., Scholte, B.J. and de Jonge, H.R. (2012) Rescue of murine F508del CFTR activity in native intestine by low temperature and proteasome inhibitors. PLoS ONE, 7, e52070.

Yu, W., Kim, C.P. and Bear, C.E. (2011) Probing conformational rescue induced by a chemical corrector of F508del-cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) mutant. J. Biol. Chem., 286, 24714-24725.

Zhang, D., Ciciriello, F., Anjos, S., Carissimo, A., Liao, J., Carlile, G., Balghi, H., Robert, R., Luini, A., Hanrahan, J. and DY, T. (2012) Ouabain Mimics Low Temperature Rescue of F508del-CFTR in Cystic Fibrosis Epithelial Cells. Frontiers in Pharmacology, 3, 176.

Zhang, W., Fujii, N. and Naren, A. (2012) Recent advances and new perspectives in targeting CFTR for therapy of cystic fibrosis and enterotoxin-induced secretory diarrheas. Future Medical Chemistry, 4, 329-345.

Zhang, W., Ogando, D.G., Bonanno, J.A. and Obukhov, A.G. (2015) Human SLC4A11 is a Novel NH3:H+ Co-transporter. J Biol Chem, in press.

Zhou, M., Diwu, Z., Panchuk-Voloshina, N. and Haugland, R.P. (1997) A stable nonfluorescent derivative of resorufin for the fluorometric determination of trace hydrogen peroxide: applications in detecting the activity of phagocyte NADPH oxidase and other oxidases. Anal Biochem, 253, 162-168.